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Enclosed:
1. Audited Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2007

1.
INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT
The Independent Audit Report is attached as an Appendix at Appendix 1 

2.
STATUTORY AUDIT REPORT
The Statutory Audit Report is attached as an Appendix at Appendix 2
3.
INTRODUCTION
The Auditor-General is required under section 172 of the Constitution to inspect, audit and report on the Public Accounts of Tuvalu, the controls of Public Monies and property of Tuvalu and all transactions with or concerning Public Money or Property in Tuvalu.
4.
AUDIT LEGISLATION
Section 25 of the Public Finance Act (Cap 49) requires me to verify:

(a) that all reasonable precautions have been taken to safeguard the collection and custody of revenue and that the Ordinances, directions and instructions relating thereto have been duly observed;

(b) that all moneys which have been appropriated and disbursed have been applied to the purposes for which they were appropriated, and that the expenditure conforms to the authority which governs it;

(c) that all public moneys other than those which have been appropriated have been dealt with in accordance with proper authority;

(d) that all reasonable precautions have been taken to safeguard the receipt, custody, issue and proper use of cash, stamps, securities and stores and that the regulations, directions and instructions relating thereto have been duly observed; and

(e) that adequate regulations, directions or instructions exist for the guidance of accounting officers and accountable officers.

(f) that expenditure has been incurred with due regard to economy and the avoidance of waste.

5.
FACTORS THAT DETRIMENTALLY INFLUENCED THE AUDIT PROCESS 

My audit for the year 2007 of actual expenditures revealed that several institutions had exceeded their budget appropriations (See Appendix 5). My attempt to establish the reasons for the over spending were hampered by the following factors:
· Major delays in delivering the Government Financial Accounts. The Auditor-General only received it on 29 August 2008 despite a statutory deadline of 30 June 2008. The Government Accountant ascribed the delay to the delay of the UN mission. This mission is immaterial to the Whole of Government operations and should never again hold up the accounts, especially in the time of e-mail, fax and instantaneous communications.
· Unavailability of key officers. Many officers from whom information was needed were not available for extended periods during the audit, through sickness, absenteeism, or overseas trips. Key officers with key responsibilities should defer leave where possible when their obligations are at hand.
· Inaccuracy of revenue and expenditure amounts per the Treasury Department records, given that few accounts are being reconciled to various cash books and vote ledgers.
· The budget has not been adequately revised to reflect the virements and additional supplementary budget or requirements during the year to facilitate correct basis for comparison with actuals.
· Strict compliance and adherence to standard financial instructions has not been effective.
· Delays in receiving timely information during the audit. This point especially relates to the Department of Communication and Transport, and Fisheries who preside over material assets and revenue for Tuvalu, and who have not responded in time to our many audit requests.
6.
IMPROVEMENTS IN INTERNAL CONTROLS STILL NECESSARY 

I note in 2007 the efforts to improve efficiency of accounting by Treasury Department. This is the second full accounting Period that the ACCPAC system has been in place, and some improvements seem to have been achieved when comparing to previous audit reports.
However, it has been 12 months since the last audit report, and many recommendations still do not appear to have been actioned. It should be noted, that many areas still require serious attention. 

i. Mispostings;

ii. Poor understanding of the nature of accounts and accounting treatment of related transactions;

iii. Inadequate reconciliations and review of account balances by responsible officers to ensure that they are reasonable;
iv. Non-compliance with accounting procedures set out in the Financial Instruction Manual;
v. Insufficient evidence of regular checking of postings by independent or supervisory officers;
vi. Adequate controls not being maintained on a continuous basis throughout the year.

7.
AUDIT ADJUSTMENTS 

I have disclosed the list of net audit adjustments (appendix 12) required to enable a fair representation of the accounts for the Year Ended 31 December 2007.

These adjustments were necessary to: 

i) correct balances of incorrectly reconciled amounts

ii) correct classifications of revenue and expenditure 

iii) account for movements in bank accounts not taken up by Treasury

iv) close off accounts that could not be reconciled

v) include assets and liabilities not previously recognised.

The size and nature of these adjustments continue to highlight the ineffective monitoring of accounts, and the inefficient level of general accountability. 

As the Government continues to move towards full accrual accounting, substantial movements in the balance sheet are expected in the near future.

I reiterate earlier recommendations that all Treasury Department staff receive appropriate and refresher training in the applications of the accounting software (ACCPAC) and that the financial instructions are followed at all times.

8.

QUALIFICATION ISSUES
8.1

Property, Plant and Equipment 

No record of Assets owned by Tuvalu has been included in the Annual Financial Statements. This has materially understated the Accounts. Fixed assets are conservatively worth in excess of $30 million, and in order to give a complete report on the financial position of Tuvalu, these must be included. In addition, all assets of the Government on the outer islands are not clearly defined and identified. Schools, hospital clinics, community fishing centres, project assets and other assets are currently treated inconsistently across the country. Currently they are not even identified in the Kaupule Accounts.
Remedy

An Asset Manager has been appointed in 2007, and an asset register is in the process of being rebuilt. This is expected to achieve tangible benefits to the presentation and disclosure of Tuvalu’s Accounts in 2008. Care must be taken to include all assets and to ensure that they are recorded at “Fair Value”.
Government Assets on outer islands need identification and agreement on ownership and responsibility for maintenance. Departments of Education, Home Affairs, Health, PWD and Finance must liaise to finalise this current confused state of affairs.

Consistent Asset policies need formulation and application through the Asset Manager.

8.2

Consolidation of State Owned Enterprises 

It is the duty of the Minister of Finance under section 31 of the Public Finance Act to present accounts showing fully the financial position of Tuvalu. In my opinion, the assets and liabilities of the State Owned Enterprises are material to Tuvalu’s accounts. If they are not consolidated into the Tuvalu Whole of Government Accounts, then the picture of Tuvalu’s financial position is incomplete and the Minister of Finance is remiss in his statutory obligations.
State Owned Enterprises are controlled by the Government. They satisfy the definition of “Controlled Entities” in International Accounting Standards ‘IAS 27 Preparing and Presenting Consolidated Financial Statements’ and under that accounting standard are required to be consolidated. The Attorney General’s opinion has been sought on this issue, and they concur with my assertion.
Remedy
State Owned Enterprises should be fully consolidated into the Whole of Government Consolidated Accounts. The ACCPAC system is capable of producing consolidated accounts. The chart of accounts of each State Owned Enterprise needs to be reviewed and coordinated to ensure that they are consistent with each other, and also with the central government. This will allow for ease of elimination of inter-governmental transactions, and amalgamation.
8.3

Inventory

No inventory is recorded in the 2007 Financial Statements. It is difficult to estimate whether this is a material misstatement mainly because no records exist. Every Department holds some kind of inventory balance at year end. However, this has traditionally been accounted for as an expense whether or not it has been used within the period. Without an organised inventory management system, it is very difficult to get an accurate estimate of how much is consumed within the accounting period. This has the effect of overstating recurrent expenditure, because usually there are goods left “on hand” at year end. It also significantly increases the risk of fraud and theft of Public goods going unnoticed.
Remedy
Each department should conduct a stocktake at the end of the financial year to determine the levels of inventory on hand owned by the Government. The best way for this to be coordinated is likely to be through the Asset Manager and their team. Inventory movements that cannot be accounted for through purchases and usage should be investigated and passed onto the Auditor-General firstly and then the Police for proper investigation.
8.4

Gross Breakdown of expenditure controls

$3,237,000 has been overspent on expenditure line items without application of virements or advances in accordance with the Financial Instructions. Under no circumstances should line items be overspent against budget. The Financial Instructions are very clear on this. If an item of expenditure will exceed the provision, a virement is first to be sought from within the head of expenditure. If there is not sufficient provision left within the head for a virement, then an application for supplementary estimate form should be sent to the Minister. The Minister can then use his discretion to grant a Contingency Warrant (Minister’s Advance) authorising the Secretary to issue an advance from the Consolidated Fund for the expenditure. These advances up to $750,000 at any one time should then be presented to Parliament through a Supplementary Appropriation Bill.

Under Schedule 5 to the Tuvaluan Constitution and section 15 of the Public Finance Act, Contingency warrants are only to be issued for urgent and unforseen expenditure where the expenditure cannot be deferred without detriment to the public interest. As noted in Appendix 11, the nature of most expenditure is not “unforeseen” and should therefore be appropriated by other means including more accurate initial budgeting, or a mini-budget.
The only expenditure that should be shown over budget, is unauthorised expenditure, and should not be processed by Treasury Accounts Payable clerks, until all the avenues for authorising it have been exhausted.

It is the department’s accounting officer who is ultimately responsible for unauthorised expenditure (under the Financial Instructions). The accounting officer who has incurred excess expenditure (expenditure over budget) is liable for this excess expenditure. 
In schedule 5, section 9 (5) of The Tuvaluan Constitution it states that:

“If at the close of account for the relevant financial year it is found that any moneys have been expended on any head in excess of the sums appropriated for that head by an Appropriation Act or for a purpose for which no money has been appropriated, the excess or the sum expended but not appropriated, as the case may be, shall be included in a statement of heads in excess which shall be presented to Parliament”.
As far as I am aware this remedial action has not been undertaken by the Minister, and as such this expenditure remains unconstitutional.

Remedy

Two major controls require overhauling; expenditure commitment controls and payment processing controls.

Treasury Accounts Payable clerks should not process expenditure before firstly checking the status of that sub-head against budget. There is a section on the PV where they must sign that they have done this.

Accounting officers require accurate vote books, or read only access to ACCPAC in order to properly monitor the financial position of their department against budget before committing to any expenditure. The vote book system is dysfunctional as mentioned in previous reports and in my findings below and needs immediate and drastic rethinking in favour of a more current and effective system i.e. through departmental ACCPAC access. The vote book system is almost certainly responsible for the over-commitment of funds by department heads.

Reports on over expenditure for the financial year should be reported to Parliament consistently with the Constitution.
8.5

Netting of Income and Expenditure

There are many cases in the Tuvalu accounting environment where income and expenses are netted off within one sub-head of income or expenditure. IAS 1 expressly prohibits offsetting. Indeed, there are very few circumstances where offsetting is allowed and even fewer, where it is advised.
It is important that all assets and liabilities, and income and expenses are reported separately. Offsetting in the balance sheet or the income statement detracts from the ability of users and budget setters both to understand the transactions or other events and conditions that have occurred and to assess the Government’s future cash flows. In 2007, Audit detected and made adjustments for the Japan Fuel Grant ($1,146,461) which was directly netted off vessel fuel and TEC subsidy, and Transport costs to the outer islands ($115,945) which has been netted off against Import Duty. Audit is not confident that all such cases of netting off have been discovered, and will be conducting further investigations over the course of the coming year.

It is important that such cases are shown as gross income and expenditure, to fully show the cost of Government subsidisation to sectors of the community.

Remedy
Ensure that all income and expenditure are reported on a gross basis in the accounts. Netting off is not allowed by any accounting standards, nor is it advisable.
8.6

Unlawful Appropriations

During the financial year, expenditure totalling $90,196 (2006: $747,045) was advanced through contingency warrants from the Minister of Finance. The items of expenditure were never presented to Parliament through inclusion in a Supplementary Appropriation Bill, so therefore remain as unlawful expenditure during the year. This is possibly the result of an administrative error, and is significantly less than unlawful expenditure in previous years, but is still evidence of financial irresponsibility.
Under Schedule 5 to The Tuvaluan Constitution and section 15 of The Public Finance Act, Contingency warrants are only to be issued for urgent and unforseen expenditure where the expenditure cannot be deferred without detriment to the public interest. As noted in Appendix 11, the nature of most expenditure is not “unforeseen” and should therefore be appropriated by other means including more accurate initial budgeting, or a mini-budget.
I note that in July 2007 the interpretation for ministerial advances (supplementaries) was changed. Previously the Minister of Finance was authorised to advance up to $500,000 per calendar year to legalise overspending in the budget. As a result of this interpretation, and an amendment to the act the Minister is able to advance up to $750,000 until the next session of Parliament. In the 2007 financial year, $1,494,294 (2006: $948,000) was advanced by the Minister to meet overspends.
In theory, the Government could call any number of emergency sessions per year to approve excess expenditure. This situation promotes financial irresponsibility and does not reinforce the notion of having budgetary controls at the Payment Voucher processing level.
Remedy
To comply with The Public Finance Act, any advances made by the Minister of Finance up to the $750,000 limit must be brought before Parliament in the very next session after the advance has been issued.
8.7

Lack of Timely, independent information and staff availability

Audit was unable to form a clear opinion on a number of material income and expenditure items for the 2007 financial year. This showed a lack of cooperation with the audit process. This was despite a reminder circular that went around to every department expressly asking for cooperation with the process. Despite many requests, we received no timely direct, independent responses and were unable to verify revenues and asset values for these accounts within the audit timeframe:

Air Fiji

Dot.TV 

Vessel Registration 

Fishing licences.
Contributing to this problem was the unavailability of key staff in ministries due to overseas trips or absenteeism. This has considerably hampered the Audit process, and the smooth running of Government. I understand that Government is considering lifting the travel ban and allowing up to two partly or fully funded overseas trips per year for civil servants. I would recommend that where officers have an obligation to be present or to fulfil a necessary duty, that there is an extensive approval process for this travel, with the power of veto given to an independent officer. 
Under The Audit Act 2007, the Auditor-General is given powers to request information incidental to the audit, and there are penalties prescribed for individuals or companies that do not comply with requests for information in a reasonable way within a reasonable timeframe. 
Remedy
All departments and State Owned Enterprises need to be reminded of their obligations to keep accurate records and to furnish those same records to the Audit Office on request. Also, key staffs of ministries are required to be on hand during the audit process. I recommend that all planned overseas trips are passed by an officer of Government, or indeed the Auditor-General for veto to ensure that the officer concerned has supplied any information in their possession required by the audit process.
If I believe that I am being prevented access to information, I will take the action I feel necessary under the powers of The Audit Act 2007.

8.8

Capital Items recorded in Recurrent Expenditure

$2,157,247 of capital expenditure has been recorded within the recurrent expenditure area. This provides a misleading picture of Tuvalu’s financial situation. The definition of 
An asset: is a resource controlled by the entity as a result of past events and from which future economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity.

An Expense: is a decrease in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form of outflows or depletions of assets or incurrences of liabilities that result in decreases in equity.

The two things are clearly different and categorising capital purchases as expenditure fails to recognise that those items will have a value to the Government over more than one period. Including capital items within the recurrent expenditure helps to obscure the capital purchases and makes identification and proper management of assets more difficult.
Remedy

All items of a capital nature should be recorded in the asset register and the useful life taken up over the life of the asset by means of depreciation.

It is necessary that a capital budget is maintained in coordination with the recurrent budget process.

The Asset Management department should be expanded to oversee the execution of the capital budget, and the coordination of the procurement process with the Asset Register maintenance. This joined up whole of Government approach will result in increased efficiency and effectiveness in asset procurement, monitoring and management.

8.9

Format of Financial Information

The Public Finance Act(Cap 49) section 31 outlines broadly what should be included in the Annual Accounts for Tuvalu, and refers in section 3 (e) to the use of “generally accepted international accounting practices” for instruction on how they are to be prepared. As there are no Accounting Standards native to Tuvalu, GAAP should be consistent with International Accounting Standards (IAS), and reports should be prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards. 
The Auditor General has a duty under section 25 (e) of The Public Finance Act 1990 in respect of the accounts to ensure “that adequate regulations, directions or instructions exist for the guidance of accounting officers and accountable officers”.
In fulfilling this duty, and in the absence of any local accounting standards, it is my opinion that the accounts of Tuvalu should be presented according to International Accounting Standards (IAS), which would provide adequate instruction on their preparation to accounting officers.
International Accounting Standards would include all the elements requested by section 31 of The Public Finance Act 1990, as well as presenting the information in a way satisfies more of the qualitative characteristics of financial reports including understandability, relevance, faithful representation, and prudence.

The Tuvalu Whole of Government Accounts are currently not being presented in the format as prescribed in the International Accounting Standards. IAS 1 sets out the components of a financial report:

(i)
a balance sheet;

(ii)
an income statement;

(iii)
a cash flow statement;

(iv)
a statement of changes in equity;

(v)
notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes;

The overall considerations that the Government should make in presenting financial reports are:

(i)
fair presentation and compliance with International Accounting Standards;

(ii)
accounting policies;

(iii)
going concern;

(iv)
accrual basis of accounting;

(v)
consistency of presentation;

(vi)
materiality and aggregation;

(vii)
offsetting;

(viii)
comparative information;

(c)
the classification of items in the financial statements; and

(d)
a range of disclosures about financial position and financial performance.
Remedy

The standards I am bound to Audit under are the International Auditing Standards. They are reliant on adherence to the International Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards. I will not rescind this qualification until International Accounting standards are applied. 

8.10

Audit of Budget Assumptions

No audit of the budget assumptions underlying the budget as presented in the Financial Statements has been made. To date, no fully referenced budget workpapers have been provided for audit. This is an unacceptable situation, and does not provide for proper Parliamentary scrutiny of Government budget decisions. Budget data is not input into ACCPAC, and expenditure controls are made more difficult by this fact. In fact, budget data and Treasury data have begun to diverge, making checking and monitoring extremely difficult.

No complete budget policy exists. As such there are no detailed rules on what is allowable in terms of budget preparation, on which to base an audit. This has led to some unusual budget practices not in line with the principles of conservative accounting. The prime example is XB expenditure. In the 2008 budget, XB expenditure increased from $13 million to $20 million, of which only $3,806,919 was identified as having a donor. 

Another symptom of the lack of complete budget policy means that exchange rates made for key assumptions have not been updated to reflect recent market movements. A clear policy needs to be set out, because the Australian dollar (AUD) devaluation will lead to windfall gains in the vicinity of 10 million dollars on Tuvalu’s overseas revenues that are not adequately reflected in the budget.
In order for Audit to make value-adding commentary about budget overspends, audit must firstly have knowledge on the basis that underpins the budget figures, and be allowed to make comment where these appear to be deficient or not in accordance with existing policies.
Remedy
Create a full set of budget policies, so future budget setters will have clear guidelines to follow, and auditors will have clear criteria to audit against.

Synchronise budget codes with Trial Balance and accounting software and load budget figures into ACCPAC. This will enable easier coordination of the budget setting, monitoring and updating process, as well as making it easier to audit.

Centralise control of virements, and recording virement data and effects on heads of expenditure. This will ensure that everyone dealing with financial data is reading off the same page.

9.

CURRENT ISSUES 

9.1

Risk Management 

During 2008, the world has seen dramatic changes in financial circumstances. Fuel reached a high of US$147 per barrel in June and a low in October of US$65. The Australian currency has also fluctuated greatly, moving from a high of US$.98 in July to a low of $.61 in October. This represents major volatility and will have major effects on Tuvalu’s overseas income and expenses, as well as the flow on effects on prices domestically. Such large swings can bring windfall gains and unexpected losses. One thing that huge movements like these do not bring is certainty. Being a small economy with a proportionally large exposure to external revenues and expenses, any measure of certainty would allow a much more controlled balance of payments. Government is not powerless in the face of global trends, because they have the ability to use risk management processes to hedge away all uncertainty. In the way that a company may use futures and options to reduce risk and exposure to potentially volatile markets and transactions, the Government of Tuvalu may do the same.
If the currency and oil volatility could be virtually eliminated, it would allow the Government to more effectively manage its budget.
9.2  Unlawful issue of Guarantees
It has recently come to my attention that Cabinet agreed to provide a guarantee for an overdraft facility of $600,000 for Air Fiji Ltd with the National Bank of Tuvalu.

The proposal to Cabinet came from the Permanent Secretary of the Ministry of Communications, Transport and Tourism through the Acting Finance Minister (Minister for Communications, Transport and Tourism). On a Cabinet approval, the Acting Secretary to Government issued a memo stating that Cabinet had approved a Guarantee. From my investigations, the overdraft was initially rejected by the Board of the NBT. However, my understanding is that the Government then resubmitted the request to the Board, which was approved, after the departure of the Chairman.

In the last few weeks, Air Fiji has not been flying its scheduled services, leading to a great deal of speculation into the financial situation of the airline.

In a media article dated 10 September, Island Business made comments that Air Fiji had incurred a debt of FJ$500,000 to BP. If this is the case, monies granted from an overdraft would be nearly consumed by this debt, instead of adding to working capital.
On Fiji One News on 9 September, there was speculation of industrial action from Air Fiji Staff over proposed 15% salary cuts, disrupting the service and lead to further loss of revenue. 

I have sought the Attorney-General’s advice on the legality of the guarantee. The Attorney-General’s advice dated 8 September 2008 (reference 05/11/14) states that a guarantee “does not need to be approved by Cabinet, rather it may be given at the discretion of the Minister of Finance. However, under section 6(2)(a) of the Government Borrowing and Guarantee Act (Cap 66), it is an essential condition precedent to the exercise of the Minister’s discretion that the purpose of the loan which is to be guaranteed be approved by Parliament”.  The Tuvalu Constitution states in section 18 (1) that: 

“The Government shall not borrow money except in accordance with the provisions of a written law.”
From my investigations, despite Air Fiji initially approaching Tuvalu in April 2008 for financial assistance, nothing relating to this was raised in the June session of Parliament or in any other session of Parliament prior to this proposal.

I would like to query firstly the merits of this guarantee, and secondly the lawfulness of this guarantee. In relation to the merit of the guarantee, (which has presumably been provided in circumstances where Air Fiji is not otherwise able to obtain credit) I am unaware of:
a) any analysis or study being done in relation to the financial consequences of this Guarantee. 

b) adequate security being taken over the assets of the airline. 

c) the continuing viability of the airline.
The DCC minutes of 10/7/08 indicate that the DCC has agreed for the Government to guarantee an increase in TEC’s overdraft from $400,000 to $900,000. Not only is such a decision outside the DCC’s powers, but it shows further disregard for the operation of the Government Borrowing and Guarantee Act.

9.3  Consolidation of the Outer Islands

Under the International Accounting Standards, specifically IAS 27, any entity that is controlled by another should be consolidated so that full financial picture of the group of related entities can be shown, alongside the parent. 

I have sought the Attorney-General’s opinion as to whether the outer islands are controlled for accounting and consolidation purposes. The Attorney General’s opinion was that if the International Accounting Standards are adopted by the Minister of Finance to present Tuvalu’s Accounts there is no obligation to produce consolidated accounts. This is because the definition of control was not satisfied in the relationship between the Government and the Kaupules evidenced by the facts outlined in the Falekaupule Act.

However the Attorney-General also referenced to the obligation of the Finance Minister under The Public Finance Act (Cap 49) section 31(1) to “Show fully the financial position of Tuvalu”. Under this obligation, the Minister may wish to prepare consolidated financial statements for submission to the Auditor-General.    
In my opinion, preparing a consolidated financial report would be the most beneficial way to show fully the financial position and performance of Tuvalu as a whole. Other countries with similar geo-political make-up do consolidate their outlying islands into the whole of Government accounts.
9.4 Classification of Tuvalu Trust Fund Contributions

The Attorney-General’s opinion has again been sought to determine whether residual bilateral funds contributed to the Tuvalu Trust Fund by donors constitute contributions by Tuvalu. Given that ordinarily these funds would be spent on assets (like schools) or other projects where ownership would eventually revert to Tuvalu. The Auditor-General is seeking an opinion as to at what point bilateral funds become Tuvaluan Assets.
This is significant, because under the Tuvalu Trust Fund Deed, on dissolution, Tuvalu is entitled to the “real value” (nominal amount indexed by Australian CPI) of Tuvalu’s contributions. Classification of these funds could have a very material effect on Tuvalu’s balance sheet.

9.5 Virements between expenditure heads
It has come to my attention that the Government is considering proposing an amendment to the Public Finance Act that would allow virement between heads. This would have the effect of circumventing the existing structure of advances and supplementary appropriations over which there is (some) control and Parliamentary oversight.
This would not only promote financial irresponsibility, it is against every principal of good governance and would vest far too much power in Cabinet, or whatever body is charged with the discretion.

This would also render the budget process largely meaningless, as well as all the controls over expenditure processing. In effect, it would make everything except the bottom line rubbery and open to gross manipulation.
I would strongly oppose any such a move, and would hope that this idea is vigorously debated in Parliament.
9.6 TMTI Upgrade Project

The TMTI upgrade project began in 2003. That means that it has been going for 5 years. The project exceeded initial cost estimates, and a supplementary loan was approved by Cabinet based on the then Tuvalu High Commissioner’s recommendation to Cabinet. As mentioned in point 8.2, this was also not approved by Parliament in accordance with The Borrowing and Guarantee Act. In 2008, the project is still not finished, and is running out of funds from the second loan. That is almost AUD$5 million spent at the date of this report. TMTI has been the recipient of Taiwanese ‘tied’ project funds of $240,000 per year for a completely separate TMTI training project. In 2007 $210,000 of this ‘tied’ grant has been redirected to cross-subsidise the ADB project, through transport of materials etc. So there are hidden costs relating to this project now borne by other sub-heads. This project cost also does not include hundreds of uncounted and uncosted hours of Tuvalu Public Servant’s and Officials time from many departments. This cost is effectively hidden, but should really be capitalised into the project. There are many projects where time and salaries are not accurately taken into account in valuation.
The Government of Tuvalu, when agreeing to ADB funded projects need to determine that the value of the asset created correlates closely to the amount of the loan to ensure the public are getting some value for the liability with which they are now encumbered. Project management and Government must at the outset determine whether the aim of these types of projects is to produce a cost effective asset, or simply to be part of a Government policy to stimulate local employment.
9.7 Government Policy Register

Currently no register exists of Government Policies. This ensures that if the Government sets policies at all, they are very difficult to find. If they are difficult to find, then they will not be widely recognised by Public Servants, poorly applied and poorly enforced, and will add to the confusion. A central register of policies could easily be established using a simple coding system, and new policies, once coded can be circulated to staff as they are raised using the internal e-mail system. This should be coordinated by the Attorney-General’s Department.
9.8 Government Contracts Register

As a result of doing the 2007 audit, I have noticed a difficulty in accessing information from different Ministries. There are many large contracts to which Tuvalu is a counter-party, that have significant effects on country cash-flows. Monitoring of contract performance is weak across Government and predicting cash-flows resulting from the contracts is poorly done primarily due to the difficulties that arise in obtaining information. In my opinion, a central contracts register should be maintained that would summarise all the key features of each contract into a simple database. With this information, Tuvalu budget-setters and policy–makers can more accurately predict the income or expenses due or payable at various points in time.
9.9 ACCPAC

The Government of Tuvalu has been operating ACCPAC now for almost 4 years.

In 2007 $20,219 (2006 $15,345) was spent on maintenance of ACCPAC and in 2008 to date $10,100 was spent on maintenance of ACCPAC. While the system may be improving slightly, with the addition of extra modules for Asset Management and Payroll, these are also quite expensive, and require a lot of consultation hours. Treasury is still not able to produce any financial reports (except a cash flow report) and any reports needed have to be designed and programmed from scratch. ACCPAC as it stands in Tuvalu is not user friendly, and with absences of key staff, can become impossible to retrieve information. There are much cheaper and more user friendly “off the shelf” accounting packages that have suites of built-in financial reports and are generally much more intuitive to use. In all probability, the capital expenditure and training that Tuvalu has already committed to ACCPAC may support keeping this system, however, as noted above, there are only a few key staff who really know how to use its features. It is unacceptable for a system that has had so much spent on it to not be easily able to produce the most basic of financial reports quickly and easily. I recommend that Government of Tuvalu request a more user-friendly front-end to the ACCPAC program, and a suite of standard financial reports to be included and easily obtainable. My advisor, who is an expert user of accounting packages, has advised that this is one of the most user-unfriendly and poorest accounting packages that he has worked with.  An accounting package should be able to produce high quality financial statements with no manual manipulation. At the present, the ACCPAC Trial Balance is being used in excel to produce an incomplete and unreliable set of financial statements. It is imperative that the budget figures be entered into ACCPAC for each year and standard out-turn reports are available for the most basic of analysis to take place. If staying with ACCPAC, I strongly recommend that a purchasing module be installed to strengthen and override the poor expenditure processing controls currently in place.
9.10 Food Subsidy Scheme

It has come to my attention that the Government intends to introduce a Subsidy for Basic food items in the 2009 Budget.  Although the factors that contributed to the dramatic rises in food prices like fuel prices may be in abatement, this is offset by the falls in the Australian dollar, so the effects on Tuvalu prices may be longer lasting than in other areas of the world. The mechanisms for the management of this subsidy need to be transparent and verifiable. I will be investigating this scheme and reporting in detail on the findings in my next report. 

There have been two periods of food supplies running low in 2008, with flour and rice both running out. Food security on basic items may need attention through Government monitoring, intervention or policy.
9.11 General Salary Increase
The Government intends to grant a 6% salary increase in the 2009 Financial Year to all civil servants (except permanent secretaries and statutory office holders). As the last civil servant pay rise of 3% occurred in 2006, and the annualised CPI inflation figures (as of August) for 2007 was 2% and 2008 was 13.4%, wage rises are not keeping pace with inflation. Therefore in real terms, and in terms of purchasing power, wages are falling in Tuvalu.
This effect may be temporary in terms of the current world economy macro movements.  We have seen the oil price fall back below US$70 recently, however, this has largely been offset by falls in the Australian Dollar, so it is unlikely that (any) reductions in costs will flow through to the Tuvaluan basket of CPI goods in the short term.

It is important that the Government use all measures at their disposal to reduce inflation. I note that the price control board is becoming more active and coupled with the food subsidy scheme may have some positive effect on inflation. Reducing demand for imported products by raising official interest rates, (although they are already comparatively high) or using other risk management measures as mentioned in point 9.1. I note that the planned level of Government expenditure is being increased quite dramatically in the 2009 budget from $25 million to $33 million. This may pose further inflationary risks on the already susceptible economy.  
9.12 Conflicts of Interest

I have evidence of two cases arising during 2007 where an executive officer, through holding positions of influence with outside companies (in one case the officer was a member of the Board of Directors and in another case was the officer dealing with the company) was able to use that position to derive benefits for an organisation on which he was also an executive. In the case of Air Fiji, the benefit was free flights awarded to the National Soccer Team, and in the case of the Tuvalu Ship Registry, cash of $7,690 was solicited in 2007, and cash of $7,700 was solicited in 2008 again for the National Soccer Team. I also understand that the same officer was sent at the Government’s expense to Geneva to pursue Tuvalu’s FIFA membership ambitions with the governing body. I cannot see that this has been budgeted anywhere. 
While the motives of these actions may be reasonable, the appearance is that benefits were procured and no due process was followed for their fair and reasonable distribution.

In the interests of transparency and good governance, a process should be set-up for distribution of benefits fairly across sporting or community associations of Tuvalu, to reduce actual or perceived conflicts of interest. 

Board members are not allowed to use their power, influence or relationships on any Board to derive personal benefits, or benefits for groups or associations of which they are a member. This is one of the foundations of Governance and ethics on which the modern world is based.
Actions of this kind are required to be investigated by the Ombudsman under the Tuvalu Leadership Code.

I strongly recommend that the Government allocate financial resources to the establishment of the Office of the Ombudsman, to preside over and action the Leadership Code and determine whether or not such conflicts give rise to criminal proceedings.
10.

2007 SPECIFIC AUDIT ISSUES
10.1

CURRENT ASSETS
Current Assets are assets with short maturities (usually within 1 year).

10.1.1
Cash 

Cash Basis of Accounting

I am pleased to report that this is the first year that the Minister of Finance has attempted to move from cash accounting to use accrual accounting to capture all Tuvalu’s Income and Expenditure.

Accrual accounting enables a more accurate picture of Tuvalu’s revenue and expenses by recording them as they are incurred, and a more meaningful balance sheet by recording the realisable value of Tuvalu’s assets, liabilities and equity.

The largest difference in the two methods would be in the recording of the Tuvalu Trust Fund.

	TTF Balance as recorded (Cash Basis) at nominal value of contributions
	TTF Balance as recorded (Full Accrual Basis) at real value of contributions 
	Difference

	$30,842,683
	$39,588,230
	$8,745,547


At present, the International Financial Reporting Standards deal exclusively with accrual accounting, and rules are set for recognition, presentation, and disclosure of transactions. In order to be more transparent and understandable by International Standards, it was important that Tuvalu move into a more contemporary and structured accounting framework. This is also stipulated under Section 3 (e) of The Public Finance Act.
Reconciliations

Reconciliations were not done and presented for audit for these Government Bank Accounts.

	Account
	Balance

	Consolidated Investment Fund
	$9,088,931

	Government Call Account – 02
	$     54,518

	Miscellaneous Passbook Account – 34
	$          270


As a result of no reconciliations being done, the CIF was understated on the balance sheet by $1,544,202, and $780,626 of distributions (interest) from the CIF were not included in consolidated revenue.

Both these errors have been subsequently adjusted.
Reconciliations are an important control and need to be done regularly to ensure that all bank account movements are taken up in the General Ledger. Evidence of checking reconciliations needs to be shown by an officer independent to their preparation.

It is important to note that while reconciliations have been done for most other accounts, the bank statement amount was taken up in the General Ledger, and not the reconciled amount.

This resulted in every reconciled bank account having to be adjusted to the correct figure.

The Government accountant should check the reconciliations and sign them each month. A register of reconciliations should be kept to ensure that all reconciliations are performed.

Reconciliations of the Development Fund need to be closely reviewed by the Government Accountant, in order to make informed financial decisions and timely adjustments.
Stale Cheques (cheques over 6 months old) need to be reviewed and written-off or reissued as required.

The amount of stale cheques is considerable in the two main government accounts as shown below:

	Account
	Total Stale Cheques (> 6 months)

	General Account
	$176,042

	Development Fund
	$199,099


Bank Account reconciliations should not be kept open past year end. Cheques dated 31 December amounted to $755,338 (70%) of outstanding cheques in the General Fund. This was not a problem in the Development Fund Account. These amounts, as far as they relate to invoices received after year end, should be taken up as creditors and accruals, not adjustments to the bank account.

Outstanding deposits totalling $5,375 for the General Account, and $79,436 for the Development Fund Account were invalid and needed to be written off. These were taken up in Audit Adjustments. The Government should be practicing daily banking of deposits received, so outstanding deposits should be minimal, (only the last day’s takings). If daily banking is not practiced, it increases likelihood of fraud and loss, because there are large amounts of money lying around.
Reconciliations need review by the accountant and sign-off each month as a control against error.

Movements in certain accounts during the year not incorporated in the Government Accounts

	Ministry/Department
	Bank Account
	Balance 31 December 2007
	Comments

	UN Mission New York
	Business High Yield Savings
	$33,302
	Appropriate Adjustments have been made to account for annual movements

	Fiji High Commission
	A/C 3589303
	$27,228
	


In 2007 as in 2006, there were also a number of other bank accounts managed by some ministries. These were not made available to me at the time of the audit, and I have not been able to determine with certainty whether they should be taken up in the Government Accounts. As a result, no adjustments have been made in the accounts to reflect such movements. See Appendix 8 for a listing of these accounts.

No action was taken in regard to these accounts in 2007. I once again recommend that the Government investigate and consolidate these accounts if they are no longer being used. If they still have balances, they should be adequately reflected in the balance sheet.

Tuvalu Development Fund
According to the Tuvalu Development Fund records, there are outstanding project monies being held of $1,653,027. However, in the account, there is only $349,000 and $155,555.97 in the IBD this leaves a shortfall of $1,148,472. 
This situation has come about because of two different problems.

· Projects are not being closed off properly as they are finished

· Government has transferred funds out of the account, without closing projects

I am not aware of project donors being contacted at all at the end of a project to determine how they want excess funds spent, or how to top-up a shortfall.

I would encourage the Government to replenish the entire shortfall into the account, and then systematically claw it back into the general account by closing projects and transferring the balances, until all that is left in the Development Account are amounts relating to current, open projects.
A policy needs to be created and circulated (to donors as well) stating that after a certain timeframe after the finish of a project, the project will be closed and excess funds will be cleared to the General Account automatically unless otherwise instructed.
Section 24 of The Public Finance Act 1990 states that “Any deposit which is unclaimed for 5 years shall be paid into the Consolidated Fund for the public purposes of the Government: Provided that if any person entitled thereto shall subsequently prove to the satisfaction of the Minister his claim to any such deposit the Minister shall thereupon refund to such person his deposit”
So all old finished projects over 5 years old can be directly closed into the General Account.

Until action like this is taken, the Development Account will be irreconcilable.

Cash On Hand

Under Section 331 of the Financial Instructions, the Secretary is responsible for determining the maximum cash balances on the outer islands.


Section 332 of the Financial Instructions outlines that any balances above the authorised cash limits set by the secretary should be remitted to the Treasury department as soon as possible. 

During my enquiries of Treasury and the Secretary of Finance I found that the limits have been set by a memo at $10,000 per island.
The balances for the outer islands were as follows:


	Island
	Per Cash Book
	Per General Ledger
	Variance
	2006 Balance

	Nanumaga
	$  2,364
	$  3,738
	$  1,374
	$23,563

	Nanumea
	$11,066
	$11,066
	$        0
	$27,452

	Niutao
	$16,101
	$16,023
	-$     78
	$27,176

	Nui
	$26,310
	$26,310
	$        0
	$37,720

	Nukufetau
	$36,487
	$35,946
	-$   541
	$29,528

	Nukalaelae
	$  1,913
	$  8,194
	$  6,281
	$29,528

	Vaitupu
	$14,152
	$99,243
	$85,091
	$95,586

	Treasury
	Not Available at time of Audit
	$  2,664
	N/A
	$  2,664


Control procedures are not always performed on a timely basis. Variances are still noted at year end between the general ledger and outer islands cashbooks as per the above table. These variances have been subsequently adjusted at year end.

Deposits of receipts are not performed on a timely basis. I note through discussions instances of delayed deposits.

Treasury must retain records from all islands and Treasury itself. Records from Treasury were not presented for audit.

In order for Treasury Department to maintain accurate accounts, reconciliations must be undertaken regularly, preferably on a monthly basis when the outer island cash books are received.

Timely and efficient reviews of cashbooks should be performed by the accountant and responsible Treasury officers.

I note that the general levels of cash held are well down from 2006 levels.
Any cash excess to these limits should be remitted to Treasury via the banking system.

Islands should seek to establish a bank account for this Tuvalu Fund Money, and only keep on hand the amount necessary to cover day to day petty-cash requirements.

Now that bank branches are located on the outer islands, large balances of cash are not necessary to be carried on hand.

I also again recommend that the Government warrant system of moving money around islands and departments is reviewed to ensure that it is still viable and necessary in light of the newly available infrastructure and technology.

In January 2008, a circular was issued saying that the limit of Tuvalu fund for each island was to be $10,000. This means that anything above that should be remitted to the Government. With the balances as at 31 December 2007, this represents an extra $54,000 to be remitted to Treasury.

Mission Accounts

In 2007 I note that posting to the general ledger in respect of the UN mission and Fiji High Commission accounts was incomplete. As a result, necessary adjustments were made to the ledger so that the ledger agreed to the bank reconciliation. These adjustments amounted to UN $116,089 and Fiji -$93,590. I have been unable to ascertain the correct allocations for this expenditure. This indicates that some or all of this expenditure may have bypassed the budget office and thus the budget monitoring process.

I also noted that no cash is remitted back to Tuvalu from the High Commission in Suva or the UN mission. Allocations are not adjusted to compensate for income received in these missions. The High Commission in Suva budgeted for approximately $12,000 income for 2007. I also note in 2008 that some $11,000 paid to the High Commission in Suva in respect of Fishing Licences was retained and not remitted. This practice should be discontinued, and warrants to the High Commission should be adjusted to reflect revenue retained at the Mission.
The delays experienced when waiting for accounts from the Missions overseas of over four months are completely unacceptable, and completely avoidable.
I recommend the following:

i) With current levels of technology, much of these financial accountability functions can be re-centralised in Tuvalu. The Treasury should ensure that they have internet access to the bank accounts of the missions and ALL bank reconciliations can be done centrally in Funafuti.
ii) Strict compliance with the Financial Instructions manual with respect to the correct process of incurring expenditure.

iii) Treasury Division maintains these records efficiently and regularly reconciles these to cashbooks maintained by these Embassies to ensure accurate accountability of Government Funds

10.1.2
Investments (IBDs) 

The Government of Tuvalu is holding $1,744,318 in investment IBDs. These have been accounted for correctly and taken up correctly in the financial statements. However, at year end, accruals need to be taken up for the interest earned but not yet received on these accounts. This amounted to $2,400 on all investment accounts and $140,965 on the CIF Account.

I recommend that the Government assess the purposes for which that all these IBDs are held and determine whether or not they can be amalgamated into the General Fund. At present, it is reminiscent of “jam tin” accounting, and the funds may be needed elsewhere in the short term.
10.1.3
Tuvalu Trust Fund (TTF) and Consolidated Investment Fund (CIF)

Ledger balances at year end

	Fund
	2007
	2006
	2005
	2004
	2003

	TTF
	$39,588,230
	$29,820,811
	$28,587,802
	$16,105,343
	$16,386,000

	CIF
	$9,088,931
	$6,157,137
	$2,048,215
	$3,644,010
	$4,905,323


Tuvalu Trust Fund

I obtained confirmation in 2007 for this balance which states that the nominal value of Tuvalu’s contributions is $30,842,683. The Tuvalu Trust Fund Agreement under Article 25 states clearly that the Government of Tuvalu is entitled to the “real value of contributions” that is the nominal amount of contributions, adjusted by the Australian CPI rate. The real value is significantly ($8.745 million) higher than the nominal value, and the move to accrual accounting reflects this real value in the Balance Sheet.

The confirmed market value of the TTF at 31 December 2007 was $107.89million (2006 $107.44 million). As at the date of the audit the balance of the TTF had declined to $94.5 million due mainly to current market volatility.
Consolidated Investment Fund

In 2007 the Government drew down $6.937 million from the TTF into the CIF. Also during 2007, Government transferred $4.843 million from the CIF into the General Account to meet operational requirements.

In the financial accounts, the Government recognised $9.602 million as a revenue drawdown from the CIF.

This is incorrect accounting treatment, as the CIF is controlled by the Government. Income should be recognised when it is transferred from the TTF to the CIF. This resulted in a $2.664 million adjustment to revenue and assets.

The consolidated fund balance was confirmed to be $9.089 million. This was incorrectly stated in the accounts as $10.633 million and has subsequently been adjusted.
Interest earned on the CIF had not been included in the accounts, or the budget, but has been subsequently adjusted in the accounts. It represents income of $780,626, including an accrual of $140,965.
To ensure accountability of Government contributions, investment in TTF, CIF and Drawn –down funds received are correctly reflected in the accounts. I again recommend:

i) proper reconciliations be performed regularly, and these be reviewed by the accountant

ii) specific details and confirmed updates of the funds received by the Government, and transfers to the TTF and CIF must be retained by the Treasury division.

10.1.4 Receivables

I have noted an improvement in accounting for receivables during the 2007 year and into the 2008 year, showing that effort is being made to identify and follow-up on debtors to the Government.
As this was the first year using accrual accounting, the debtors balance has now been included as an asset in the Balance Sheet, instead of in unreconciled schedules as follows:
	
	2007
	2006

	Special Imprests
	$       40,928
	$  27,779

	Advances
	$     889,078
	$199,544

	Other
	$     346,238
	$          0

	Taxation Receivables
	$       75,728
	$          0

	Total Receivables
	$  1,351,972
	$227,323


Despite recording these receivables, the Auditor-General’s cut-off testing noted that $346,238 of revenue received in early 2008 related to 2007, and should have been accrued to give a clearer picture of actual revenues.

This has been included in the Audit Adjustments.
Audit has observed that Debtors and Creditors control accounts have been rolled over correctly, without losing any information, and forming the basis for a sound asset and obligation recording system. Although I have stressed that many debtors are significantly aged, and require a provision for doubtful debts to be raised to the extent that they have become uncollectible.
From discussions with the Government Accountant it has been found that $140,288 of the debtors balance is over 12 months old and has been deemed uncollectible. An adjustment for this provision has been included in the Audit Adjustments.
Treasury Division and other departments are being continually advised of the need to maintain and monitor the aging of control accounts to ensure the following:

(i) strict compliance to Government credit Policies;

(ii) all avenues of recoverability are considered

(iii) regular requests for payment and follow-up letters are sent to Debtors

(iv) all government expenditures are properly authorised

(v) Government obligations are supported by appropriate supporting documentation, and are allocated to the correct period, so they can be properly compared against budget.

(vi) Regular reconciliations are performed to ensure that the balances are carried at the correct values, and appropriate provisions for doubtful debts are used.

Advance Accounts
Advances have increased dramatically due predominantly to three main new advances 

	Rotomould
	$266,243

	TMTI Project
	$319,362

	Tolise Primary School
	$  69,380

	Total
	$654,985


Advances represent expenditure incurred by various Government departments, which are yet to be cleared out to the appropriate departmental expense code on the basis of budget allocation or reimbursement by donor.

I provide a list of advances by line ministry in appendix 10 of this report.

These costs do not appear to have been allocated to the respective departments, and Government must be reminded that these advances are indications of;

(i) non-compliance to the budget appropriations with the exception of official trips that are confirmed in writing by donors

(ii) lack of timely submission of acquittals to donors may have delayed the settlement of these advances

(iii) inadequate review of expenditures based on forecasted events

(iv) Relaxed attitude by ministers who have initiated the advance is not acceptable. It leaves the responsibility on Treasury to collect amounts without any prior knowledge of the donor. Accountability needs to be shifted to the ministers/initiators.

As the Government accounting system is on an accrual basis, these advances should be cleared out to the relevant expense accounts as soon as practically possible, because they mask expenditure on projects, or overspends by Ministries.

Special Imprest Accounts

These accounts are used to record all special imprests or advances to Government Ministers, Officials and Civil Servants in respect of all official Tuvalu Government overseas trips.

The Financial Instrustions state that:

312.
Imprests shall be of two classes —

(a)
a Standing Imprest, which shall be replenished from time to time as required, and which shall be retired at the end of each financial year, or at the time when the reason for which such an Imprest was issued shall cease, or at any other time that shall be notified in writing by the Secretary;

(b)
a Special Imprest, which shall be advanced for a specific purpose and which shall be accounted for in full within the period allowed, or when the specific purpose for which the Imprest shall have been issued has been fulfilled whichever is the sooner.

From the financial Instructions, it would be reasonable to expect that very few of the special imprest balances that existed in 2006 would still have balances in 2007. This means that they have not been paid for over 12 months.
In 2007, because accrual accounting has been adopted, there is no need to keep a subsidiary ledger record. In previous years I compared the general ledger and special imprest register maintained by Treasury Division and identified the following variances. 
	31 December
	2007
	2006
	2005
	2004

	General Ledger 
	40,928.51*
	$27,779.79*
	$15,887*
	$5,169*

	Special Imprest Register
	40,928.51
	$28,702.57*
	$54,871*
	$66,675*

	Variance
	0
	     $922.78
	$38,984
	$61,506


 *Balances have not been carried forward properly from prior years
As in prior years, I cannot ascertain the accuracy or completeness of the listing provided to me, amounts were not accurate in 2006 and balances were not carried forward properly to 2007. This indicates outstanding imprests have not been accurately maintained in Treasury department records for the purpose of recovery.

1) Deductions were posted to the respective accounts exhibiting an incorrect refundable position on numerous accounts.

2) Errors in posting inflate/deflate outstanding imprest on individual’s accounts.

3) Interest charged on accounts may have accounted for some differences

In view of the above I again cannot provide an accurate copy of outstanding balances with this report, as balances require compulsory, regular and accurate reconciliations. I still maintain that Treasury department needs to focus on correcting these accounts to ensure accountability.   

Special imprest issued as per the register/general ledger is as follows:

	2007 
	2006
	2005

	$420,012.34
	$184,747
	$390,860


I note recovery of the 2007 imprest as per Treasury Division register to be $379,083.83. However this recovery includes prior year’s imprests as well.
I further note the Development Fund also issues special imprest which is not accounted for or monitored by Treasury department. Savings from the issued imprest is remitted to the Development Fund in cash in some instances. This undermines the controls of the issuance of imprest as Treasury is not advised accordingly and accurately of how these amounts have been utilised and what should be refunded (if any). This undermines the requirements of the Financial Instruction manual which states in paragraph 318. (1)

“The Treasury Division, and any sub accountant authorized to issue any Imprest under financial instruction 315 (1), shall maintain a suitable Register in which shall be recorded full details of all imprests issued; the Register shall be checked regularly, and at least once per week, to ensure that all Imprests are either accounted for or retired on or before the due dates” 

Other matters of concern raised in prior years and still applicable are:

1) Retirement of imprest has not been made according to the agreed time noted in the application forms.

2) Proper maintenance of the Special Imprest Register at the Treasury Division is still required; and

3) Section 318 (2) of the Financial Instructions manual states:

“that appropriate written reminders must be sent to officers concerned in the event that a Special Imprest has not been accounted for or retired on the due date.” This I believe has not been done effectively. 
I believe the move to full-accrual accounting will continue to see improvements in this area over the next years.
Strengthening of the Government’s debtors management system is a high priority to be in accordance with the Financial Instructions. 

Similarly, internal transactions should be monitored and eliminated on preparation of the Whole of Government accounts. Internal transactions should be treated similarly to external transactions with regard to budget considerations.

I recommend continuing and strengthening the centrally controlled debtors monitoring process that has been put in place ensure that the Government is collecting all revenue to which it is entitled.

10.1.5 Inventory

At present, no inventories are recorded in the Balance Sheet. This understates Tuvalu’s assets significantly.

Having a more complete picture of the inventory that is held in Tuvalu at a central managerial level, should help to ensure that stock levels, purchasing and usage are managed efficiently

I recommend that:

i) 
All departments with inventory perform a stocktake of the inventory at least once per year (preferably year end)

ii) 
A master inventory listing is created by the Asset Manager and updated yearly

As far as I can ascertain, no action has been taken on this area in 2007. This is a very important area, as Tuvalu is receiving quite a lot of donor funds as “in-kind” contributions. Without an effective inventory management system, theft and fraud relating to Government Assets will continue to occur easily and undetectably.
10.2

NON CURRENT ASSETS

As highlighted in the last two audit reports, there has been little or no improvement in this area in 2007. 

I note that the Asset Manager has been appointed as of July 2007. This is a positive step toward accounting properly for the nation’s fixed assets.

10.2.1
Land and Buildings

At present, no land and buildings are reported on the Balance Sheet. This results in a material misstatement when reporting the Country’s financial position. 

I recommend the following:

i)
the new Asset Manager Position conduct a stocktake of all Governmental Assets.

ii)
An asset register is created and maintained.

iii)
Valuations are ascribed to land and buildings and they are included in the Balance Sheet including land and buildings held overseas.

iv)
A maintenance program for Governmental assets is implemented

As in previous years, I also note the improbability of insuring government assets. I reiterate the importance of having some contingency cover, and again recommend the creation of an IBD for self-insurance purposes.

As mentioned in qualification number 6, $2,157,247 of capital expenditure has been recorded within the recurrent expenditure area. This provides a misleading picture of Tuvalu’s financial situation. 
A uniform capitalisation policy needs to be formulated to ensure that assets are initially recorded when purchased and to be able to monitor for existence periodically through stocktakes.

10.2.2
Plant and Equipment

At present, no plant and equipment are reported on the Balance Sheet. This results in a material understatement when reporting the Country’s financial position.

I recommend the following:

i) 
a budget is developed for purely capital purposes

ii)
Establishment of a specialized department around the asset manager to be responsible for the purchase of fixed Assets and administration of the capital budget
ii)
All appropriate documentation relating to fixed asset additions or to be maintained 
iii)
Asset registers are created and maintained by all departments


iv)
the new Asset Manager Position conduct regular stocktakes of all Governmental Plant and Equipment.

v)
A master asset register is created and maintained.

vi)
A maintenance program for Governmental assets is implemented

10.2.3
Government Equity in Corporations

Ledger Balances at year end

	2007
	2006

	$10,490,841
	$13,588,031


More detailed balances are shown in Appendix 3 of this report.

Corporations have confirmed the levels of Government equity held. For the second time I have been able to confirm with Air Fiji the Government’s investment in Aviation Investments Limited (AIL) and AIL’s investment in Air Fiji Limited. Also included in the “Equity in Corporations” balance is the value of the Government’s investment in Pacific Forum Lines which has never been recognised before.
As noted in previous years, there are many instances where the Net Assets of the State Owned Enterprises are less than the initial and subsequent investments by the Government. See Appendix 3. As a result of the move to accrual accounting this has been written down to “Fair Value” which in all cases approximates Net Assets.

The Amount advised by audit to be written down in 2007 is approximately $4,104,191.
 

I recommend that the Government monitor the carrying value of these investments and make appropriate provisions against the carrying value, where the impairment of the value of the investment is permanent. 

10.3

CURRENT LIABILITIES
10.3.1
Payables
In 2007, from testing cut-off practices, the Auditor-General identified an under-accrual in Accounts Payable of $177,793, meaning that this expenditure was processed into the 2008 year when it related to 2007. 
In order to capture all outstanding obligations at year end and accurately present the expenditure against budget, it is important that cut-off is reviewed properly at year end.

Present cut-off procedures involve keeping the bank accounts open to process payments against the old year some 10 days into the New Year. This has resulted in some 70% of outstanding cheques in the bank reconciliation (or $755,338) being dated 31/12/07. This is quasi-accrual accounting, or in many countries, referred to as ‘window-dressing’ because these payments should be shown as liabilities, instead of hidden in the bank reconciliation.
The correct treatment under accrual accounting is to close the bank account at year end (in this case 31 December) and then as invoices start to come in in January, that still relate to the previous year, to put them aside in an accruals folder, and process them by Journal using the entry

DR Expense

CR Accounts Payable (or accrued expenses, depending on the time the invoice is dated)

Using this method, treasury should be able to begin processing the new year accounts on 1 January, but open a window (about 2 months is recommended) to capture all payments that relate to the old year.
Teething problems like this are to be expected on adoption of accrual accounting.

The Government still does not have any reliable system of capturing their accounts payable obligations. The manual system of cut-off processing described above is effective for year end accounting, but is inadequate for commitments monitoring and cash flow forecasting. 

Not being aware of obligations at any point in time will have a detrimental effect on planning, and cash-flow forecasting.

As at 31 December 2007, GOT creditors were in excess of $933,131 and from the bank reconciliation as at 31 August 2008 has decreased to $717,000 not including commitments that have not yet reached Treasury.

I have been unable to obtain a complete and accurate listing from Treasury to assess the extent of GOT’s indebtedness, as Treasury Department may not be aware of all liabilities in Ministries.

I again recommend that this issue is addressed as a matter of urgency.

The movement to full accrual accounting, and re-centralising some of the expenditure initiation process has begun to address these issues by further utilising the capabilities of ACCPAC.

Appendix 4 shows clearly the largest offending departments for not reconciling their vote books. These are the largest offenders, but in fact no single department’s vote book is reconciled, which is a breakdown of one of the key controls over expenditure. This makes it nearly impossible for Treasury to capture the Government’s obligations at any point in time.

I recommend that vote book reconciliations are either more rigorously pursued, or abandoned altogether as a control procedure. I strongly recommend the upgrading of the ACCPAC system to include a Purchasing module. Decentralised access to ACCPAC for procurement purposes could be a feasible alternative to keeping manual vote books.

At the time of Audit, it is noted that from the bank reconciliation, the amount of outstanding cheques (creditors) were approximately $680,000 although this is by no means complete.

It is noted that from mid 2007, the Government Accountant has made efforts to re-centralise some of the payables controls within Treasury, especially the initial data entry of invoices into the ACCPAC system. 

This is a positive step towards capturing and determining obligations of Government.

I recommend that these initiatives are pursued vigorously or else alternatives are explored.

Controls over expenditure should either be done completely and consistently throughout the accounting period, or abandoned in favour of a better system. Consequently the reliability of financial information produced is in doubt.

10.3.2
Immigration Security Bond
$12,400 was received during the year relating to immigration Security Bonds. These were incorrectly recorded as revenue, and subsequently corrected by audit adjustment.

According to The Public Finance Act 1990(Cap 49) Section 21 says:

“Any moneys, not being moneys raised or received for the purposes of the Government, which may be deposited with the Government, (such moneys being hereinafter called “deposits”) shall not form part of the Consolidated Fund and except as provided in this Ordinance shall not be applied in any way for the purposes of the Government.”
Thus these deposits should be held as liabilities as they are not part of the Government’s money and are more in the nature of money held on trust.

However, section 24 goes on to say:
“Any deposit which is unclaimed for 5 years shall be paid into the Consolidated Fund for the public purposes of the Government: Provided that if any person entitled thereto shall subsequently prove to the satisfaction of the Minister his claim to any such deposit the Minister shall thereupon refund to such person his deposit”
10.4 NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
10.4.1 Suspense Account
The Outer Island Suspense Accounts showed a slight decrease from 2006 to 2007, mainly due to some payments including a direct credit of the NBT Dividend ($204,871). These Suspense accounts (Deposit Agency Accounts) were established to facilitate money exchange for the citizens of Tuvalu and have been frozen at the end of 2006, as NBT branches opened up on the outer islands.
The final Audited Balance for each year is shown in the table below.

	2007
	2006
	2005
	2004

	$4,549,263
	$4,923,734
	$4,636,650
	$2,447,909


This balance represents the total amount that the GOT has effectively borrowed from its citizens to meet its commitments without replenishing the money into the bank. It should be noted that NBT has continued to pay out interest on the monies, and the Government has not reimbursed any interest.
This money if used to meet commitments must have gone some of the way towards funding the budget overspend (ultra vires expenditure) in the years where it was operating.
	Year
	2004
	2005
	2006

	Budget Overspend
	$5,679,340
	$1,968,435
	$5,346,250

	Increase in Suspense Account
	$2,420,537
	$1,881,651
	$   621,545


At the current deposit interest rates, the additional liability to the Government (to cover what NBT has paid on the monies) as at 31 December 2007 would stand at approximately $120,000 per year.

I note that there have been moves to secure payments from ADB in respect of repaying the suspense account commencing in 2008. As luck would have it, if the exchange rate does not recover this will be more than enough to extinguish the debt.
	Year
	Amount from ADB
	Exchange rate 28/10/08 AUD/USD
	AUD Equivalent

	2008
	$1,240,000
	.60
	$2,066,667

	2009
	$2,200,000
	.60
	$3,666,667

	Total
	$3,440,000
	
	$5,733,334


10.4.2 Government Loans and Guarantees

I would like to bring attention to GOT’s Loan portfolio. See Appendix 7. I have circularised Government Departments and State Owned Enterprises. I cannot ascertain with 100% certainty that the list is complete, however, it is a good indication of GOT’s future commitments that need to be considered.

The total value in AUD of offshore loans as at 31 December 2007 was $10,068,281. Other domestic loans totalled $6,044,007, with the National Bank of Tuvalu. Interest is only being charged on $186,644 of this debt.

I recommend that all loans should be disclosed as liabilities on the face of the balance sheet, and guarantees be disclosed as contingent liabilities, unless it becomes certain that the Government will have to honour the guarantee.
The Air Fiji loan was severely overstated in the accounts (subsequently audit adjusted) by $562,013. Errors like this can easily be avoided by checking with the bank to confirm the actual balances at year end.

As mentioned in the current issues, all Government borrowing and guarentees are subject to the 

Government Borrowing and Guarantee Act 1990 (Cap 66). Government must ensure that they either comply with the existing laws, or change them by Act of Parliament, otherwise, the actions they take may be deemed unlawful and leave liability with individual ministers involved in the event of a change in Government.
10.5
EQUITY

9.5.1
Large Equity Movements
In 2007, there have been large swings in equity. This is mainly due to the first year of adoption of accrual accounting. These fluctuations should be more predictable in 2008. Equity was misleading in 2007, as the accounts are severely understated by not including Fixed Assets on the balance sheet.

The Government Accountant has created a separate account called “Audit Adjustments” to show the magnitude of the adjustments made in 2007, instead of netting the movements against accumulated funds.
10.6
GOT REVENUE AND MAJOR EXPENSES
In 2007, GOT has spent $9.7m (2006:11.8m) on Salaries, travel and subsistence and electricity bills. This is approximately 26% (2006 42%) of total revenue received during the same period. The following analysis illustrates total revenue (actual and budget) and the major expenses of GOT over the two year period.
	Description
	2007 Actual ($)
	2007 Budget ($)
	2006 Actual ($)
	2006 Budget ($)

	Revenue (including Donor Funds)
	37,359,072
	35,309,173
	27,942,620
	55,093,471

	Expense – Staff (Salaries and Allowances incl TNPF)
	(8,619,628)
	(8,661,991)
	(9,792,187)
	(10,125,280)

	Expense – Statutory Travel
	(24,108)
	(36,000)
	(65,966)
	(95,000)

	Expense Ministerial Travel
	(186,302)
	(187,000)
	(257,301)
	(210,837)

	Expense – Other Travel and Subsistence
	(343,053)
	(538,186)
	(566,320)
	(671,373)

	Expense Tuvalu Electricity Corporation
	(226,407)
	(410,000)
	(373,423)
	(356,660)

	Expense TEC Outstanding Bills
	(337,717)
	(299,272)
	(695,990)
	(186,048)


Ministerial Travel has decreased by 27% from previous year. 
I note that a freeze was made on international travel by the Government in 2006. This has positively effected the Ministerial Travel. This is despite the appointment of 2 new ministers during the year, and so is a pleasing result. 

Outstanding TEC bills
There was a big effort to clear the outstanding bills in 2006, which meant that there was less outstanding amount to clear in 2007.
I further note that of the total expenditure, staff related costs comprise approximately 23% (35%) of income. This percentage has fallen due to a general decrease in salaries and a higher income collection in 2007. 
Below is a representation of the number of civil servants:

	Class
	2007
	2006

	Established Staff
	              804 
	              815 

	Temporary Staff
	              99 
	              165 

	Contractors and other
	                72 
	                82 

	Casuals
	                76 
	                42 

	Total
	           1,051 
	           1,104 


10.7  REVENUE
My review was to assess the adequacy of the revenue recording process and the correct accounting of government revenue as well as analysing the effectiveness of current credit policies that ensure the prompt collection of debts owed to government. The review was carried out on all major revenue collecting departments using a risk based focus. Major areas of concern are listed below. Minor findings are listed in Section 8.1.
A general point of concern for Tuvalu was the continued strength of the Australian Dollar during 2007. As most of Tuvalu’s revenues are denominated in US$ and the Australian dollar had appreciated by more than 10%, there was a material impact on revenues.  The other side of this is that Tuvalu’s cash reserves and purchasing power has been increased when dealing with non-$AUD suppliers.  

Although at the date of this report, the exchange rates have declined dramatically. With the $AUD exchange rate hovering around US$0.65, in 2008, these same revenues may experience some windfall gains.
10.7.1 Monitoring and reconciling Accounts 

In 2006, $930,182 of revenue was double counted in the financial report due to a system error. I am pleased to say that this error has not been found in 2007.

I understand that this was in part due to a change-over in systems. However, I still recommend that close monitoring and reconciling of accounts be carried out systematically throughout the year to detect and prevent errors and misstatements. A reconciliation regime should be implemented to ensure that reconciliations are done and reviewed continuously and documentation is kept.
10.7.2 Dot TV 

In 2007 GOT received in respect of Dot.TV $2.29m (2006: $2.91m). This represents only the flat fee revenue and does not take into account any profit share, as sales hurdles were not reported as having been crossed during the year. It should be noted that this revenue decreased by 10% in 2007 as per the contract. Ascertaining the accuracy of this revenue is once again highlighted.

For some reason, when the Auditor-General contacted Verisign for negotiations on how the sales figures could be independently confirmed, they advised that the only officer that they are dealing with in Tuvalu is the Permanent Secretary for Transport and Communication. The Secretary has apparently raised the issue with Verisign, who refused based on confidentiality grounds.
I am aware that the Government is currently in negotiations to amend the contract. I am at a loss to understand how the Government can even contemplate any renegotiations when they do not have reliable independently verified sales data. 

Section 5 of the marketing agreement allows the Government the right of inspection up to 4 times per year of sales and other accounting data related to Dot.TV. To date, no such inspections have been officially carried out.

I strongly recommend that the Government seek avenues under this section to verify the accuracy of this revenue. This could be done by sending auditors to Verisign, or contracting independent auditors in the US.
When initially requesting the contract, it was found that there was no copy at hand in Tuvalu, and special request had to be made to the other party to the contract for a copy. A recommendation is outlined under 9.7.3.

10.7.3
Fisheries Contracts 

In 2007, Fishing Licenses accounted for $4.4m (2006 $5.2m) which was approximately 11% of total revenue. This is a major source of revenue for Tuvalu, and it is important that it is monitored and managed to extract the greatest benefit possible. 
Under accrual accounting, it is important that these revenues are accurately matched against the year in which they are earned. As most of the agreements are for 12 months, any timeframe that falls outside the financial year should be treated as income received in advance and recorded as income in the next year.
During my audit, I have identified that $2.551 million of Fishing Licences actually relate to the 2008 Financial Year, and should be taken as revenue in that year. This has been adjusted in the audit adjustments.
I also noted in 2006 that the recent business of sea cucumber exportation is not paying any royalties or taxes to the Government. These royalties are important revenues to Tuvalu, and can be used to rehabilitate or regenerate cucumber stocks. Economic depletion of Tuvalu’s scarce natural resources must be closely monitored for environmental reasons, and potential revenue for the Government It has been noted by the Department of Fisheries that this operation is illegal, and represents a conflict of interest for one or more of the ministers involved. I note that no action has been taken on this point in 2007 or 2008.
I recommend that all major revenue is contracted where possible and that Government contracts are reviewed by a legal officer and entered into a contracts register setting out the details and amounts and a copy of each contract that the Government has entered into is retained. There are enough large contracts in existence to necessitate the creation of a contract monitoring section. Centralising and updating Government contracts will facilitate better decision making, better cash flow forecasting and increase the transparency of Government and the effectiveness of Audit.
10.7.4
Taxation and Customs Revenue 

I note an improvement in the collection of tax and duty arrears from the 2006 and also 2007 periods.

However, addressing the issues mentioned in 12.1.3 are crucial to improving collection of government revenue.

I also highlight the following as issues of concern.

i) corporate taxes still payable to GOT as at audit date are in the amount of $51,075 (2006 $26,388) (provided by the Tax department), these dues ranges from the year 2004 to 2007.

ii) Company tax revenue has increased by 131% to $1,100,979 (2006 $476,000) mainly due to the clearing of a backlog (see appendix 14)

iii) A few of the companies/corporations have yet to lodge their annual accounts for 2004, 2005 and 2006.

iv) Customs duty uncollected as per the Customs office total to an amount of $24,653 (2006 $24,587) (as at audit date) some of these dues dated back to December 2002.

v) 44 companies do not appear to have been complying with the taxation regulations at all.

(Refer Appendix 13 for details)

I note that the taxation legislation is currently under revision and is in the process of change. I recommend consideration be given to using a surcharge system on companies and corporations not lodging  tax returns on a timely basis, regardless of their operating results (loss/profits). This will encourage timely lodgements by all corporations / businesses. I note that this revision is currently underway in the 2007 financial year by a TA funded by ADB.
10.7.5
In Kind Contributions 

Attention is drawn to the fact that there is no mechanism in place for systematically recognizing income received “in kind” by the Government. All assets, equipment and expenditure paid for by other governments or organizations should be recorded in the assets register and also as non cash income or income received in kind.

Under accrual accounting this will be necessary to enable users to have an accurate picture of Tuvalu’s assets, liabilities, income and expenditure.
In 2007, the Government received $1,146,461 worth of fuel under the Japanese fuel grant scheme. This has not been accounted for as income as it should have under the International Accounting Standards, but has been netted off against expenditure. Subsequent adjustment has been made by the audit.
I recommend that for the Government’s own information, any in-kind aid is recorded centrally. This will assist in decision-making and the allocation of scarce resources. 

10.8 EXPENDITURE

The focus of my review was to assess the purchasing and procurements process and the correct accountability of government expenses. Further, I reviewed;

i. the adequacy of the budget provision 

ii. authority and allowance of all excess expenditure via supplementary budgets and virements.

The review was carried out on all ministries; I note those that exceeded the initial budget allocations by greater than $50,000. They are shown in detail at Appendix 5 and 6 are as follows;

Office of the Prime Minister

Legal Services

Ministry of Works and Energy

Ministry of Health

Ministry of Natural Resources

Ministry of Police and Jails

Ministry of Transport and Communications
Ministry of Education;

An analysis of these major overspends with recommendations is located after Appendix 6. 

10.8.1 Ministerial Advances (Supplementaries)
I have provided a list of advances by line ministry in Appendix 11.

The Government must be reminded that these advances are indications of;
i) inefficient budget proposals for recurrent or capital expenditures, and 

ii) inadequate review of expenditures based on forecasted events.

I also highlight that The Public Finance Act 1990 (Cap 49) paragraph 15 (3) states that:

“Where in respect of any financial year the Minister is satisfied that an urgent and unforeseen need has arisen to authorize for any purpose advances from the Consolidated Fund for expenditure in excess of the sum appropriated for that purpose by an appropriation Act”

Provided that

a) The funds cannot be provided under section 17 of this Act;

b) The expenditure cannot be deferred without detriment to the public interest.

“The total of sums authorised to be advanced in anticipation of the grant of an appropriation shall not exceed at any one time the sum of $750,000.”
I note that in July 2007 the interpretation for ministerial advances (supplementaries) was changed. Previously the Minister of Finance was authorised to advance up to $500,000 per calendar year to legalise overspending in the budget. As a result of this interpretation, and an amendment to the Act the Minister is able to advance up to $750,000 until the next session of Parliament. At the date of this audit in the 2007 year, approximately $1.5million (2006 $0.87 million) has been advanced to ministries. 

In theory, the government could call any number of emergency sessions per year to approve excess expenditure. This situation promotes financial irresponsibility and does not reinforce the notion of having budgetary controls at the Payment Voucher processing level.

I note that $90,196 has been advanced by the Minister, but never appropriated by Parliament. This is unlawful expenditure in relation to the 2007 year, and expenditure of this type is unacceptable.
I recommend that these ministries are dissuaded from seeking Ministerial advances as a solution to poor budget monitoring. Ministries need to be more accountable for the proper setting of the initial budget and then performing appropriately within that budget. 

10.8.2 Vote Books
Audit tested all vote books for all ministries. Not one vote book reconciled to the General Ledger fully for all expenditure items. This is a serious break down in controls. It is pointless using this type of control unless the system is maintained properly. Implications can include:

· mispostings by treasury remaining undetected

· virement decisions based on incorrect data

· incurring expenditure without correct budget/actuals data

· budget overspends remaining undetected.  

I strongly recommend that this system be overhauled as this control does not seem to be working, alternatives, such as utilizing current ICT to enabe read only access to ACCPAC on a departmental level need to be considered. If the Vote Book system is to be retained, I urgently recommend that monthly reconciliations are undertaken by each vote keeper to the general ledger. Evidence of these reconciliations should be retained at Treasury and a register kept of what vote books are outstanding. This can be a performance indicator for Vote Book keepers. 
10.8.3 Payroll

Payroll is currently performed using a spreadsheet system. Such systems rely heavily on data entry  and if not checked thoroughly and reconciled are subject to human error. No 100% Payroll reconciliation is performed to the General Ledger. During the audit, payroll data was difficult to obtain and supporting documentation was often missing. 

I recommend that each pay period, thorough reconciliations are done to the ledger and evidenced as checked by the Government Accountant. I understand that the Government is also investigating the possibility of purchasing a payroll module that interfaces with ACCPAC. This should enable reports to be produced, and help with the reconciliation control of checking the interface with the general ledger. 

10.8.4 Medical Treatment Scheme

I note that the Medical Treatment Scheme including Patients Travel and Subsistence cost $1.344 million in 2007 this is a 17.5% increase from the total of $1.143 million in 2006. On many occasions during 2007 the Princess Margaret Hospital which services the whole population of Tuvalu had run out of necessary medicines and antibiotics. The X-ray machine was out of order for the whole year and basic procedures were not able to be completed. Surgeons were operating in non-air conditioned operating theatres and general electricity supply was unreliable. Conditions like these indicate that the Government is neglecting the health treatment and preventative medicine for the general population in favour of focussing on a relative few serious cases. Of course this might have the effect of making non-critical cases worse, and thereby exacerbating the whole problem.

It is critical that Tuvalu sets out a Medical Treatment Policy that is able to provide adequate care for the majority of the people. Radical and creative reforms must be made to manage this burgeoning issue for Tuvalu, both from the treatment, patient accommodation, and preventative angles. From my analysis of the expenditure 44% related to patients and carers allowances and accommodation and 8% related to Patients travel. This indicates that there are some avenues to control at least 52% of the medical related costs. If Aid is required, then it must be re-prioritised from non-critical projects.

Extended absences of key medical officials during 2007 and 2008, have not been conducive to finalising any definitive plans.
10.8.5 Shared Services
Government of Tuvalu has the greatest level of payroll expertise in Tuvalu. In the interest of efficiency and effectiveness, I suggest that the Government explore the possibility of using the Government Payroll processing team to process the payroll of the State Owned Corporations. By sharing these standard departmental functions, the Government can centralise the Payroll expertise, and control over the PAYE tax cash flows. In other jurisdictions, these type of arrangements are quite popular, as they dispatch with the need to have specialist payroll officers at each State Owned Enterprise. The Government Payroll team would need to be increased too but the increase to their workload should not be more than 50% of what they are doing already.
11.
OFF BALANCE SHEET AND OPERATIONAL
11.1
Contingent Assets and Liabilities
Contingent Assets or Contingent Liabilities are where an amount becomes payable or receivable as a result of an uncertain event happening in the future.

I believe that a portion of the Tuvalu Trust Fund is a Contingent Asset of the Government, because on winding up, whether or not the Tuvaluan Government receives that asset depends on a 2/3 majority vote of the trustees. The value of the contingent asset to Tuvalu is approximately $68 million.
I have confirmed with the Attorney-General that there are two cases outstanding at the end of the financial year. As the Government is expected to win, they should be treated as Contingent Assets. The amount of these two contingent assets would be approximately $10,545 plus costs.
Any Government Guarantees issued should also be treated as contingent liabilities. 
Contingent Assets and Liabilities are required to be shown in the notes to the accounts, to give a fuller picture of the financial position of Tuvalu.

11.2
Insurance

While there are no cases currently before the courts for 2007, negligence and medical negligence may result in the Government having to pay damages to the injured party. Claims are likely to increase over time, as society becomes more aware of rights and litigation.

I recommend that the Government recognise the risk related to its operations (especially medical negligence) and take measures to minimise these risks in all cases. 
An insurance fund should be set up as a matter of urgency to cover the cost of governmental litigation defeats, as such payments would be outside the current budgetary process. 
Insurance funds should also be set aside for other Government Assets, especially assets located abroad to allow for operations to continue in the face of unforseen disasters. The possibility of utilising off-site insurance may also be investigated.

11.3
Financial Information Security
I note from discussions with the Treasury that they were unable to backup its data on several occasions during 2007 due to viruses in the two Government servers. I note that treasury does have off-site back-up procedures currently in place for data; however, this does not cover application software. Given volatility of servers in the past, and possibility of future volatility, an effective data and application recovery plan is urgently required to safeguard the Treasury division from possible data loss. This should include a back-up server in an off-site location.

12.

OTHER AUDIT FINDINGS

12.1

REVENUE COLLECTION
	Findings
	Recommendation
	Implementation status
	Person/  Responsible
	Timetable

	12.1.1
General Revenue 

	No Coordination of Government Receivables.

Policy of settling debit notes appears ineffective.
	· That vote keepers (or accountable officers) monthly bring the debit note books to Treasury, so Treasury can produce an overall debtors listing for the Government.

· Treasury should keep a register of which departments have bought their debit books in and the register should be evidenced by the government accountant on reconciliation.
· Accountable officers should consider their responsibilities under the financial instructions with respect to issuing, monitoring and collection of debit notes.

· Long outstanding debit notes should be considered by the Government Accountant periodically and appropriate action taken.
	Currently being addressed. Treasury have made good progress on this issue, and Debtors summaries have been circulating During the second half of 2008.
	
	

	Aging of debtors not being adequately monitored
	· As debt collection seems to be an issue, consideration should be made to adopting prepaid policies for goods or services.
· Policy on bad and doubtful debts needs to be created, usually anything over 12 months should be reviewed.

· Aged debtors should be reviewed periodically, and provision made for uncollectible debts.
· Every time a departmental debit note is raised, this should be entered into ACCPAC, and included in the Aging analysis.
 
	Ongoing
	
	

	Incorrect coding of receipts
	· revenue coding should be checked by an officer independent of the officer entering the data for reasonableness upon entry into ACCPAC. This check should be evidenced by a signature. 
	To be addressed
	
	

	Income reconciliations not being performed.
	· Departmental Vote book keepers need to ensure that their Debit note books reconcile to Treasury records. 
· This should be done in a timely manner

· Reconciliations should be retained and signed as checked by an independent officer.

· More control of this process should be exerted from treasury, keeping a register to identify complying departments.
	Ongoing
	
	

	Private Usage of Government Property
	· Private usage of Government property needs to be appropriately monitored. Scheduled rates should be determined, so such usage can be transparently charged to users.
	Ongoing 
	
	

	No recognition of “In Kind” Donations and contributions
	· Assets and expenditure purchased on behalf of the Government should be recorded and monitored.
· Under accrual accounting, this is important to ensure that revenue and assets are complete.

	To be addressed
	
	

	Uncertainty of completeness of Revenue
	· Monitoring contract revenue for existence of fraud, especially when there is only one contact person with the offshore company

· Treasury from time to time needs to circularise companies contracting with Tuvalu to ensure that the right amount of revenue is being recorded.


	
	
	

	Timing of Revenue
	· All revenue needs to be recorded in the year in which it is earned.

· Revenue spanning multiple financial reporting periods needs to be allocated into the correct periods by utilising “Receivables” and “Income Received in Advance” Accounts.


	
	
	

	12.1.2
Customs 

	Monitoring of outstandings still needs improvement.
	· Agree Debit notes outstanding with Treasury periodically, to ensure they are being included in Aged debtors list

· Customs still needs to bring in their debit notes for 2007, and reconcile these with Treasury
· Practice of netting off Import Levy against Freight subsidy to outer islands should be stopped and reported on a gross basis
	Ongoing
	
	

	Lack of resources


	· Consideration is given to providing additional resources in regard to the NZ statistics system.
	Funding required, still to be addressed
	
	

	Lack of reconciliations between PCTRADE and Treasury
	· Regular reconciliations should be undertaken to ensure that PCTRADE and Treasury records agree.

· These should be kept and signed as evidence that someone has checked them.
	Some Improvement   

noted.
	
	

	12.1.3
Tax Department 

	Poor taxation collection system

	· Adopt a more stringent lodgement procedure ensuring all taxpayers are identified and all lodge returns by the due date. 

· Ensure consistency in imposing of penalties for non-lodgement of returns and non-payment of outstanding taxes.
· Consider implementation of computerised tax system (based on a cost/ benefit analysis).
· Implement automatic assessments to streamline the tax processing system.
· Improve communication between the Treasury Department (Payroll) and Tax Department in regard to Civil Servants taxes.
· Implement effective and quality audits of clients’ accounts for tax purposes.
	Underway
Improvement noted

Funding required

Tax reform process initiated in 2007.
Funding required

Improvement noted

Still to be addressed
	
	

	Inland revenue register for taxpayers is not maintained or updated regularly
	· A new system or register be initiated to keep accurate records of outstanding tax remittances.
	Not addressed
	
	

	No reconciliation of Taxation records to Treasury records
	· Concerted efforts should be made to ensure that taxation records are reconciled to treasury regularly, to ensure accuracy of both records.
	Not addressed
	
	

	Consistency of records
	· Universal business and PAYE registration numbers are required that can be used throughout the country, through Customs, Taxation, TNPF and any other linked department, so individuals and individual companies can be separately identified for Taxation and income monitoring purposes.
	Underway
	
	

	Inadequate Filing System
	· Update filing system using numbers like tax file numbers or business registration numbers
	Underway at time of report
	
	

	12.1.4
Marine

	Inadequate system of pursuing settlement of debit notes


	· Regular follow-ups of all debit notes.

· Suspension of provision of services for holders of uncleared debit notes.

· Maintenance of a proper debit note registers.

· Secretary for Finance and the Auditor General to be duly informed of the status of arrears, in particular long outstanding debit notes on a timely basis.
	Still to be addressed

Still to be addressed

Addressed 

Being addressed
	
	

	No Vessel Fuel Budgeted
	· Ensure that Vessel fuel is clearly budgeted.
	Not addressed
	
	

	No Policy for Sea-Farers bringing goods into the country.
	· Practice needs to be standardised to ensure fare treatment and that all charges and duties are levied as appropriate
	Not addressed
	
	

	Process not always being followed for diversions of inter-island ferries
	· A shipping Port Officer should calculate charges and these need to be approved by the Director of Marine. 

· Ensure that Debit notes are raised for each diversion, prior to diversion and where possible (except in emergency) paid before the diversion.
	Being addressed
Being addressed
	
	


	Findings
	Recommendation
	Implementation status
	Person/ Ministry Responsible
	Timetable

	12.1.5
Education 

	Poor collection of school fees

(Secondary and Maritime)
	· School Fee collection has increased by $5,000 in 2007 but is still well below budget.

· More vigilant collection regime is needed, or declare all education free.

· A loan scheme may be implemented for students in order to enable students to repay the government upon subsequent employment. 
	Improvement noted. 
Still to be addressed.
Improvement in student fee collection.
	
	

	12.1.6
DEVELOPMENT FUND

	Project Ledger shows $1.6 million of money belonging to open projects.

Bank Accounts are only holding $.5 million leaving a shortfall of $1.1 million
	Implement the following internal controls:

· When a new project is initiated, keep a register of when projects are due to finish.

· Ensure that when a project finishes, use of the money left is agreed with the donor. 
· Create a policy that projects are automatically closed within an agreed timeframe after the project finish date.

· Re-imburse the development fund $1.1 million and then start closing projects and transferring monies back to the General Fund.
· Independent review of all general ledger reconciliations on a monthly basis. 
· Confirmation should be sent out to all project coordinators and donors for ongoing projects, to ensure that the amount being held for each project is correct.
· Implement correct annual rollover procedures to ensure correct opening balances.
	Still to be addressed

Improvement noted

Still to be addressed

Still to be addressed

Still to be addressed

Still to be addressed

Still to be addressed

Still to be addressed
	
	

	Reconciliations need review and timely correction
	· Prepare monthly reconciliation of accounts and vote ledgers for all ministries. 
· Independent review of all general ledger reconciliations on a monthly basis. 

· Such review to be evidenced in writing.


	Needs more attention

Still to be addressed

Needs attention

                        
	                                                                                                             
	


12.2

EXPENDITURE

	Findings
	Recommendation



	Implementation Status
	Person/ Ministry Responsible
	Timetable

	12.2.1     Recurring issues
	
	
	
	

	General lack of internal controls.

Eg. 

Variances between the Vote ledger and the Treasury Department accounts.

(Refer Appendix 4)
	Implement the following internal controls:

· Prepare monthly reconciliation of accounts and vote ledgers for all ministries. 

· Retain all completed and reconciled vote ledgers.
· Maintain a register of departments that have been reconciled monthly. Officer to sign.

· Independent review of all general ledger reconciliations on a monthly basis. 

· Such review to be evidenced in writing.

· Implement correct annual rollover procedures to ensure correct opening balances.
	Still to be addressed

Improvement noted

Still to be addressed

Still to be addressed

Improvement noted. Subsidiary ledgers still need to be addressed.
	
	

	Actual expenditures regularly exceed budget. (refer appendix 5)
The advance account is still used to accommodate excess expenditure. This is later expensed to the respective departments at year-end. I again note that the expenditure in the advance account may have been budgeted for but preceding expenditure not budgeted for may exhaust the provisions.
	· Implement appropriate budgetary control measures, to identify areas of excess spending and to enable remedial action to be taken. 

·  Make Ministers more accountable to Parliament for overspending within their respective Ministries.
· Correct update of each department spending before matching to the budget allocation and correct assessment of performance.
	Needs more attention

Still to be addressed

Needs attention
                        
	                                                                                                             
	

	Findings
	Recommendation
	Implementation Status
	Person/ Ministry Responsible
	Timetable

	Purchasing procedures not adhered to.

· Mispostings and double payments occurrence.


	· All payments should be verified to a maintained outstanding accounts register or the vote ledger should be maintained effectively to identify all payments to date are recorded for easy reference to avoid double payments.

· A purchase order system should be used (or purchasing module of ACCPAC) to ensure that Government can capture all outstanding commitments for reporting 
	Improvement noted, Purchasing module for ACCPAC under consideration
	
	

	Non-timely processing and payment of invoices.
	· Ensure that all commitments and obligations on the Government are paid in a timely manner. 
· Use of a Purchase-order system would ensure that Treasury is aware of obligations before they are incurred.

· Ensure that payments are made within terms of trade where possible. Closer adherence to the payment policy in the financial instructions may be required.
	To be addressed
	
	

	Mission and High Commission excess expenditure
	· Ensure that allocations from Treasury are reduced to compensate for any revenue that is retained locally and not remitted back to Tuvalu.
	Being addressed in 2007 financial year.
	
	

	Misallocation of Accounts

A/C number 900000 has a balance of $40,928 CR in the expenditure section
	· This account is comprised predominantly of reimbursements for private telephones and other small items.

· Balance should be redistributed to each departmental vote as per usage.


	To be addressed
	
	

	Poor filing and record retention
	· Ensure that all supporting documentation is retained for audit inspection and for Treasury purposes.
	Improvement noted in 2007

	
	

	Non Compliance with Financial Instructions

	· Ensure that every payment is processed in accordance with financial instructions.

· Any payment that will result in a head breaking the budget, should not be processed until a virement is done, or if that is not possible, a supplementary appropriation is approved.
	To be addressed
	
	

	Findings
	Recommendation
	Implementation

Status
	Person/ Ministry Responsible
	Timetable

	12.2.2
Payroll 

	Lack of Reconciliation evidence.

Some transactions were double posted into the system

Adjustments to payroll during posting were made into the account but not reflected in source documents.

Poor documentation of source documents and referencing in the system

Coding of Payrolls in source documents are different with those in the system
	· For each pay period ensure that reconciliations between the payroll spreadsheet system and the general ledger are checked and filed for information.

· To ensure that any adjustments made should be reflected in source documents.

· To ensure that referencing of source documents should be made appropriately in source documents to avoid complications of identification.

· Appropriate coding to ensure that every transactions are charged efficiently to their accounts.
	Improvement required

To be addressed

To be addressed

To be addressed
	
	

	Overseas Missions’ PF contributions and personal loans are being paid from the General account, and not deducted from Gross salary amounts remitted.
	· Closer reconciliation to ensure that only net payroll amounts are remitted to the overseas missions.
	To be addressed
	
	

	Timeliness of processing new employees or terminating employees.
	· Direct communication between personnel and Payroll, to ensure that processing delays are avoided.
· Separate files should be kept detailing allowances, appointments and terminations, and filed together with each particular pay run file.
	To be addressed
	
	

	Allowances commencement and finalisation information not being received by payroll timely.
	· Secretaries and department heads should be encouraged to submit a return on an exception basis for any changes to the payroll in a timely manner.
	To be addressed
	
	


12.3
GENERAL 

	Findings
	Recommendation
	Implementation

Status
	Person/ Ministry Responsible
	Timetable

	12.3.1 
General Operations and financial matters

	General lack of expertise

and experience


	· Maintenance of a proper debit note register Identify specific areas where lack of expertise and experience exists. 

· Ensure that in the case of absences, more staff are trained in multiple areas to compensate

· Implement national training programmes covering all ministries targeting areas of specific needs.


	Improvement noted in 2008.

Improvement still required, however audit recognises some progress made.


	
	

	ACCPAC Reports
	· Ensure that some staff are trained and are able to produce and edit ACCPAC reports
	
	
	

	Coordination with Budget
	· The budget needs to be entered into the ACCPAC system to ensure that critical expenditure processing controls can operate effectively

· Budget numbers should be updated every time there is a virement or a supplementary to ensure the controls can function

· Ensure that the Trial Balance codes line items and codes are consistent between Treasury and the Budget and Planning section

· Ensure that new codes are agreed and simultaneously applied between Treasury and the Budget section 
	Needs Urgent attention
	
	

	Apparent lack of control over financial data
	Implement the following controls:

· Offsite back up of computer system

· Increase physical security and accessibility to cashiers room to maintain control over cash.
	Still to be addressed

Accessibility issue still to be addressed
	
	

	Insufficient resources available in the Treasury Department 


	· Implement plans to recruit and retain appropriately trained professional staff.

· Develop appropriate career paths within the department to attract suitable recruits 

· Identify suitable candidates for succession plans

· Develop appropriate in-house training courses

· Review salary structure to attract suitable recruits
	Still to be addressed
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APPENDICES 

13.1

Appendix 1: Independent Audit Report 

Tuvalu Whole of Government Audit
To Members of the Tuvalu Parliament

Audit Opinion

In my opinion (except for the effects of the matters referred to in the qualification paragraph below),
· the accounts have been faithfully, but not properly kept and presented;
· the financial report of the Whole of Government presents fairly the Government’s financial position as at 31 December 2007 and its performance for the year ended on that date, has been presented in accordance with International Accounting Standards and the principles of Accrual Accounting.
· Expenditure has been applied for the purpose for which it was authorised;
· Transactions with or concerning public money or property have been authorised by or pursuant to the Constitution and any other written law.
Qualification

The following areas need to be addressed satisfactorily in order to move towards having an unqualified audit opinion (in order of materiality):
a) No Assets register has been included in the Financial Accounts. This materially undervalues Tuvalu’s net assets.
b) The State Owned Enterprises are controlled by Government, and under International Accounting Standards are required to be consolidated into the Whole of Government Financial Accounts.

c) No Inventory is included in the Financial Accounts, and no inventory management system is in existence. This significantly undervalues Tuvalu’s Assets and has significant fraud and mismanagement implications.

d) $3,237,000 has been overspent on expenditure line items without application of virements or advances in accordance with the financial instructions representing a gross breakdown of expenditure processing controls.
e) Netting off Subsidies (i.e. Japan Fuel Grant, Outer Island Transport) is unacceptable under accounting practice, and all such items should be shown as gross income and expense

f) Unlawful appropriations totalling $90,196 during the year have been spent. These have never been appropriated through any act of parliament. This is unacceptable.

g) In a number of material areas (Dot.TV, Air Fiji, Fishing Licences), insufficient information has been forthcoming from the relevant ministries to enable audit to form an opinion on the completeness of revenue from these areas.
h) The format of the financial accounts needs to be altered to be consistent with the International Accounting Standards.
My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report.

In addition to the qualification to the above opinion, emphasis is drawn to the following matters:
Adherence and conformity with “generally accepted international accounting practices” is required by section 3 (e) of the Public Finance Act. This would be enhanced with the employment of more appropriately trained and skilled employees at the Treasury Division and departmental levels.
Internal control systems in Treasury and on departmental levels need improvement. Effective management control could provide more assurance on compliance with legislation and Financial Instructions. The absence of an adequate, consistently applied control structure is detrimental to ongoing operations and does not sufficiently protect government resources from fraud, waste, abuse and mis-management.
Scope

The Financial Report and Finance Minister’s Responsibility

The financial report should comprise the balance sheet, income statement, and accompanying schedules explicitly required under section 31 of the Public Finance Act (1990) for the Whole of Government, for the year ended 31 December 2007.
The Minister of Finance is responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with the Public Finance Act (1990). This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report.
Audit Approach

I have conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion on the financial report. I have audited the accounts of the Government of Tuvalu for the year ended 31 December 2007 in accordance with section 172 of the Constitution and section 32 of the Public Finance Act (1990)
My audit provides reasonable assurance to Members of the Tuvalu Parliament that the financial report is free of material misstatement.

My audit accorded with International Auditing Standards and statutory requirements, and I:

· assessed the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Minister of Finance in preparing the financial report, and

· examined a sample of the evidence that supports the amounts and disclosures in the financial report.

Not all schedules required by Section 31 of the Public Finance Act (1990) were complete or made available to me.

I also noted the following with respect to the accounts:

· they were incomplete, not well presented, and not well prepared ie. Without proper analysis before submission

· they contained many material errors, subsequently corrected

· were not submitted by the Minister within the legislative required time-frame

I refer to the Public Finance Act (1990) section 31 (1) and 32 (1) which outline the required timeframes
Annual Accounts 

“Within a period of 6 months after the end of the financial year”

Report on the accounts

“Within a period of 9 months after the end of the financial year”

These timeframes can only be extended with Parliamentary approval, and again this was not sought.

An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial report is error free. The terms ‘reasonable assurance’ and ‘material’ recognise that an audit does not examine all evidence and transactions. However, the audit procedures used should identify errors or omissions significant enough to adversely affect decisions made by users of the financial report or indicate that the Minister of Finance had not fulfilled the reporting obligations.

My opinion does not provide assurance:

· about the future viability of the Government,
· that it has carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically, or
· about the effectiveness of its internal controls.
Audit Independence

The Audit Office complies with all applicable independence requirements of professional ethical pronouncements. The Audit Act (2007) further promotes independence by:

· providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an Auditor‑General, and

· mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies but precluding the provision of non-audit services, thus ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office are not compromised in their role by the possibility of losing clients or income.

Sincerely,
Isaako K. Kine
Auditor General
Funafuti
7 November 2008
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Appendix 2: Statutory Audit Report 

7 November 2008

Public Accounts Committee 
Dear Members
STATUTORY AUDIT REPORT

For the Year Ended 31 December 2007
Tuvalu Whole of Government

I have audited the financial report and transactions of the Whole of Government as required by the Public Finance Act 1990 (the Act). This Statutory Audit Report outlines the results of my audit for the year ended 31 December 2007, and details any significant matters that in my opinion call for special notice. The Act requires that I send this report to the Parliament.

This report is not the Independent Audit Report, which expresses my opinion on the Whole of Government’s financial report. I have enclosed the Independent Audit Report, together with the Whole of Government’s financial report.
Audit Result

I expressed a qualified opinion on the Whole of Government’s financial report qualified on the following issues: 

· No Assets register has been included in the Financial Accounts. This materially undervalues Tuvalu’s net assets.

· The State Owned Enterprises are controlled by Government, and under International Accounting Standards are required to be consolidated into the Whole of Government Financial Accounts.

· No Inventory is included in the Financial Accounts, and no inventory management system is in existence. This significantly undervalues Tuvalu’s Assets and has significant fraud and mismanagement implications.

· $3,237,000 has been overspent on expenditure line items without application of virements or advances in accordance with the financial instructions representing a gross breakdown of expenditure processing controls.

· Netting off Subsidies (ie Japan Fuel Grant, Outer Island Transport) is unacceptable accounting practice, and all such items should be shown as Gross income and expense

· Unlawful appropriations totalling $90,196 during the year have been spent. These have never been appropriated through any act of parliament. This is unacceptable.

· In a number of material areas (Dot.TV, Air Fiji, Pacific Forum Lines Holding) , insufficient information has been forthcoming from the relevant ministries to enable audit to form an opinion on the completeness of revenue from these areas.

· The Format of the financial accounts needs to be altered to be consistent with the International Accounting Standards.

I also identified the following significant matters:

· Non - adherence and conformity with “generally accepted international accounting practices” as is required by section 3 (e) of the Public Finance Act. This would be enhanced with the employment of more appropriately trained and skilled employees at the Treasury Division and departmental levels.

· Inconsistent application of internal control systems within Treasury and on a departmental level. Effective management control could provide more assurance on compliance with legislation and Financial Instructions. The absence of an adequate, consistently applied control structure is detrimental to ongoing operations and does not sufficiently protect government resources from fraud, waste, abuse and mis-management.

My audit is continuous and I may therefore identify new significant matters before the Auditor-General next reports to Parliament on the Whole of Government audit. If this occurs, I will write to you immediately.

Scope of the Audit

My audit procedures are targeted specifically towards forming an opinion on the Whole of Government’s financial report. This includes testing whether the Government has complied with key legislation that may materially impact on the financial report. The results of the audit are reported in this context.







 Acknowledgment

I thank the Treasury and other departments’ staff for their courtesy and assistance during the audit process.

Yours sincerely

Isaako K. Kine

Auditor General
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Appendix 3: Government Equity in Corporations 

	Corporation
	Opening Balance
	Additions
	Closing Balance
	Net Assets
	Government Share of Net Assets
	Source - Financial Statements

	Development Bank of Tuvalu
	 $        1,885,343 
	 
	 $   1,885,343 
	 $      1,342,505 
	 $      1,342,505 
	2007 Draft Accounts

	Vaiaku Lagi Hotel
	 $           202,628 
	 
	 $      202,628 
	 $         106,204 
	 $         106,204 
	2007 Draft Accounts

	National Fishing Corporation of Tuvalu
	 $        1,948,690 
	 
	 $   1,948,690 
	 Not Available
	 Not Available
	 1999 Audited Accounts

	National Bank of Tuvalu
	 $           471,000 
	 
	 $      471,000 
	 $      4,994,748 
	 $      4,994,748 
	 2007 Draft Accounts

	Philatelic Bureau
	 $           645,025 
	 
	 $      645,025 
	-$         134,540 
	-$         134,540 
	2004 Draft Accounts

	Tuvalu Electricity Corporation
	 $        2,335,016 
	
	 $   2,335,016 
	-$         659,403 
	-$         659,403 
	2006 Draft Accounts

	Tuvalu Telecommunications Corporation
	 $        4,323,215 
	 $      335,000
	 $   4,658,215 
	 $      2,366,906
	 $      2,366,906
	 2007 Draft Accounts

	Air Fiji Limited *
	 $        1,777,114 
	 
	 $   1,777,114 
	 $      4,651,590 
	 $      2,005,766 
	2005 Audited accounts

	Pacific Forum Lines **
	 $                     0
	
	 $      468,655  
	 $    20,064,000
	 $         468,655
	2007 Audited accounts

	TOTAL
	 $      13,638,031 
	 
	 $ 14,391,686 
	 
	 $    10,490,841
	 

	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	
	 


* Tuvalu Government owns 44% of issued capital of AIL which in turn owns 98% of the issued capital of Air Fiji Limited. Up to date information has not been received on the financial position of Air Fiji, despite numerous requests through the Ministry for Communication and Transport. 
** Tuvalu Government owns a shareholding of 488,405 shares in Pacific Forum Lines dating back to 1993. This represents 2.3358% of the total issued capital of the shipping line. A dividend of $27,426.61 was received during 2007. 
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Appendix 4: Vote Ledgers not reconciled to the General Ledger (> $100,000 by Department) 

	Ministry
	Department
	Amount per General Ledger
	Amount per vote book
	Difference

	Office of the Prime Minister

 

 
	Institution 1 - Headquarters
	$           831,139 
	$        623,621 
	$     207,518 

	
	Institution 2 – Foreign Affairs
	$           226,230 
	$                   0 
	$     226,230 

	
	Institution 3 – Tuvalu High Commission
	$           192,679
	$        301,641
	$    -108,962

	
	Institution 4 – UN Permanent Mission
	$           447,852 
	$                   0 
	$     447,852 

	 
	 
	
	
	

	 Ministry of  Legal Services  

 
	Institution 1 – Office of the Attorney General
	$           276,911 
	$          38,860 
	$     238,052 

	
	
	
	
	

	 
	 
	
	
	

	Parliament

 
	Institution 1 - Headquarters
	$           491,181 
	$        247,517 
	$     243,663 

	
	
	 
	
	

	
	 
	
	
	

	Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning

 
	Institution 1 - Headquarters
	$        1,129,746 
	$        632,684 
	$     497,062 

	
	Institution 4 – Customs
	$           143,085
	$          10,409 
	$     132,676 

	
	Institution 6 – Treasury
	$           181,700
	$            5,087 
	$     176,612 

	
	Institution 8 – Aid Management
	$        2,952,289
	$            2,129 
	$  2,950,160 

	
	 
	
	
	

	 Ministry of Public Utilities and Infrastructure
	Institution 3 – Public Works
	$           973,660 
	$        822,080 
	$     151,580 

	
	 
	
	
	

	 Ministry of Health

 
	Institution 1 - Headquarters
	$        1,270,237 
	$        804,010 
	$     804,010 

	
	Institution 3 – Curative
	$        1,321,982
	$        959,620
	$     362,362

	
	Institution 3 – Primary and Preventative
	$           579,342
	$        442,417
	$     136,925

	
	
	
	
	

	 Ministry of Natural resources and Environment
	Institution 3 - Fisheries
	$           486,477 
	$        251,105 
	$     235,371 

	
	Institution 4 – Lands and Survey
	$           930,176
	$        696,348
	$     233,829

	
	 
	
	
	

	Ministry of Home Affairs and Rural Development

 
	Institution 1 - Headquarters
	$           472,754
	$        234,624
	$     238,130

	
	Institution 2 – Rural Development
	$        1,007,655
	$        849,004
	$     158,652

	
	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Police, Prisons and Immigration
	Institution 1 - Headquarters
	$       1,004,464
	$                  0
	$  1,004,464

	
	
	
	
	

	Ministry of Transport, Communications and Tourism
	Institution 2 - Marine
	$       2,244,153
	$    1,617,467
	$     626,686

	
	
	
	
	

	 Ministry Education, Youth & Sports

 

 

 
	Institution 1 - Headquarters
	$          785,706 
	$           3,089 
	$          785,706 

	
	Institution 2 – Education Department
	$          231,248
	$                  0
	$          231,248

	
	Institution 3 - Primary Education
	$       2,115,328 
	$                  0
	$       2,115,328 

	
	Institution 4 - Secondary Education
	$       1,350,980 
	$                  0 
	$       1,350,980 

	
	Institution 4 – Sports
	$       1,177,825
	$                  0
	$       1,177,825

	
	Institution 7 - Pre-Service Scholarships
	$       1,881,162 
	$                  0
	$       1,881,162 
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Appendix 5: Expenditure Exceeds Budget (> $50,000 by Department) 

	Issue
	Ministry
	Institution
	Actual Expenditure
	Approved Budget
	Excess Expenditure

	Actual Expenditure Exceeds Budgets (Excess expenditure >$50,000) per ministry after utilisation of all savings per line
	 Office of the Prime Minister 
	B6 -   Permanent Mission to the UN 
	 $        418,457 
	 $                295,092 
	 $                  123,365 

	
	 Legal Services 
	C1 -   Office of the Attorney General 
	 $        276,911 
	 $                216,155 
	 $                    60,757 

	
	 Works and Energy 
	G3 -   Public Works 
	 $        973,660 
	 $                912,646 
	 $                    61,014 

	
	 Health 
	H1 -   Headquarters 
	 $     1,270,237 
	 $             1,055,412 
	 $                  214,825 

	
	 Natural Resources and Land 
	I4 -    Land and Survey 
	 $        928,552 
	 $                810,607 
	 $                  117,945 

	
	 Police, Prisons and Immigration 
	K1 -   Headquarters 
	 $     1,004,214 
	 $                951,386 
	 $                    52,829 

	
	 Transport and Communications 
	L2 -   Marine 
	 $     2,244,153 
	 $             1,920,107 
	 $                  324,046 

	
	 Education and Sports 
	 M3 - Primary Education 
	 $     2,066,770 
	 $             1,952,510 
	 $                  114,260 
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Appendix 6: Expenditure Exceeds Budget Detail (> $10,000 by line item) 

	Ministry
	Account Number
	Account Name
	Actual Expenditure
	Approved Budget plus supplementary and virements
	Excess Expenditure

	 Permanent Mission of Tuvalu to the UN 
	781100-B06-01
	Accomodation
	                   41,961 
	                                     -   
	                                                                                     41,961 

	
	722250-B06-01
	Office Expenses
	                   41,151 
	                                     -   
	                                                                                     41,151 

	
	711160-B06-01
	Foreign Service Allowances
	                 130,800 
	                           101,307 
	                                                                                     29,493 

	
	782920-B06-SD
	Accomodation Fine
	                   69,781 
	                             42,000 
	                                                                                     27,781 

	
	791230-B06-01
	UN Miscellaneous
	                   12,905 
	                                     -   
	                                                                                     12,905 

	
	762100-B06-TG
	UN Membership Contributions
	                   50,634 
	                             39,157 
	                                                                                     11,477 

	
	
	
	
	
	

	 Office of the Attorney General 
	723640-C01-SD
	Law Revision
	                 144,000 
	                             72,275 
	                                                                                     71,725 

	
	723510-C01-01
	Office Expenses
	                   50,333 
	                               1,000 
	                                                                                     49,333 

	
	
	
	
	
	

	 Public Works 
	722350-G03-03
	Civil Servant House Maintenanc
	                 268,255 
	                           227,436 
	                                                                                     40,819 

	
	723320-G03-06
	Petrol & Oil
	                   26,730 
	                             10,000 
	                                                                                     16,730 

	
	711110-G03-05
	Salaries
	                   73,655 
	                             61,351 
	                                                                                     12,304 

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Health - Headquarters
	725040-H01-TG
	Medical Treatment Scheme
	              1,066,009 
	                           850,000 
	                                                                                   216,009 

	
	
	
	
	
	

	 Land and Survey 
	781100-I04-TG
	Land Rent
	                 707,419 
	                           578,000 
	                                                                                   129,419 

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Police - Headquarters
	711110-K01-02
	Salaries
	                 306,178 
	                           262,070 
	                                                                                     44,109 

	
	711110-K01-03
	Salaries
	                 147,640 
	                           128,259 
	                                                                                     19,381 

	
	711120-K01-02
	Allowances
	                   43,495 
	                             30,821 
	                                                                                     12,674 

	
	
	
	
	
	

	 Marine 
	722550-L02-02
	Vessel Maintenance
	                 523,678 
	                           447,804 
	                                                                                     75,874 

	
	712410-L02
	Stevedoring
	                 200,749 
	                           135,000 
	                                                                                     65,749 

	
	711120-L02-02
	Allowances
	                 113,946 
	                             65,031 
	                                                                                     48,915 

	
	711110-L02-03
	Salaries
	                 204,999 
	                           165,624 
	                                                                                     39,375 

	
	723210-L02-02
	Victualling
	                 145,672 
	                           110,858 
	                                                                                     34,814 

	
	722550-L02-03
	Vessel Maintenance
	                 353,746 
	                           325,196 
	                                                                                     28,550 

	
	711120-L02-03
	Allowances
	                   73,901 
	                             46,837 
	                                                                                     27,064 

	
	
	
	
	
	

	 Primary Education 
	711110-M03-03
	Salaries
	                 816,113 
	                           669,169 
	                                                                                   146,944 

	
	79113A-M03-SD
	Outer Island Primary School Project
	                 857,790 
	                           800,000 
	                                                                                     57,790 


On analysing expenditure that contributes to such an overspend, the predominant factors are 
a) Land Rent
During 2007 Land Rent increased over budget dramatically.
b) Medical Treatment Scheme 
This scheme has been a major contributor to budget overspends in the last few years. It is expected without radical shifts in policies to keep growing. At present over 50% of the non-reimbursable medical treatment scheme costs relate to Flights, Accommodation and Patient/Carer Allowance. These costs can be managed using long term strategies. 

c) Vessel Maintenance
As no budget was made for Vessel Fuel, it was included in ‘Vessel Maintenance’ As another perennial area of overspending, vessel fuel is again given attention. Again, alternative long-term management strategies need to be considered to determine the viability of maintaining these two vessels.
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Appendix 7: Government Loans and Guarantees 

	External and Domestic Debt

	Loan
	 Agency
	Original Amount of Debt 
	Present Amount of Debt (AUD)
	Commencement Date
	Term
	Grace Period
	Interest Rate
	Principal Repayments

	Government Debt
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	Falekaupule Trust Fund
	ADB
	US$3.972 million
	 $  4,535,627 
	Nov-99
	24 years 16 years repayment 
	8 years, repayments commence Feb 2008
	1% during grace period, then 1.5%
	USD$124,115 Semi-annually

	TMTI Original Loan
	ADB
	SDR1.394 million
	 $  2,552,052 
	Nov-02
	32 years, 24 years repayment
	8 years, repayments commence Feb 2011
	1% during grace period, then 1.5%
	SDR$29,041 Semi-annually

	TMTI Supplementary Loan
	ADB
	SDR1.353 million
	 $  2,476,993 
	Aug-04
	32 years, 24 years repayment
	8 years, repayments commence Feb 2012
	1% during grace period, then 1.5%
	SDR$28,186 Semi-annually

	DBT Equity Injection
	EIB
	EUR 0.3 million
	 $     503,609 
	2003
	15 years
	Single Repayment 2018
	2% per annum
	EUR 0.3 million in 2018

	Air Fiji Equity
	NBT
	FJD$2.0 million
	 $       59,725 
	Jun-01
	5 years
	None
	10.5% per annum
	AUD$25,000 per month

	NAFICOT
	NBT
	AUD$1.308 million
	 $  1,308,100 
	Nov-03
	129 months commencing August 07
	None
	8% per annum to be charged from date of first repayment
	To be determined

	Outer Island Suspense Account
	NBT
	AUD$4.923 million
	 $  4,923,734 
	Aug-07
	To be determined
	None
	No interest
	To be determined

	TMC
	NBT
	AUD $126,919


	$      126,919
	               Dec-07 
	To be determined
	None
	To be determined
	To be determined

	TOTAL
	
	
	$ 17,249,478
	
	
	
	
	

	Government Guaranteed Debt
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	DBT Global Loan 1
	EIB
	EUR$0.5 million
	 $     839,348 
	1993
	15 years
	No repayments unless DBT makes profit
	Interest free
	Repayment equivalent to 50% of DBT profit from 2008 onwards

	DBT Global Loan 2
	EIB
	EUR$0.7 million
	 $  1,175,088 
	Nov-03
	5 years
	10 annual repayments commencing April 2009
	6% per annum
	EUR$70,000 per annum

	TOTAL
	
	
	$   2,014,436
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Appendix 8: Unaccounted for Government Accounts

	Account Name
	Account Number
	Balance
	Interest Rate

	Govt Tuvalu CF Acct
	01-420002-30
	11.83
	2.5%

	Govt Tuvalu SPF Art
	01-420002-32
	0.2
	2.5%

	Govt Tuvalu HRR
	01-420002-33
	0.43
	2.5%

	Govt Tuvalu Misc. Aid Account
	01-420002-34
	1431.20
	2.5%

	Govt Tuvalu No. 5 Acct
	01-420002-35
	120.34
	2.5%

	Govt of Tu8 BKP
	01-420002-37
	113.41
	2.5%

	Govt of Tu8 Agri HDT SP
	01-420002-38
	1.43
	2.5%

	Govt of Tu8 Agri PRY RF
	01-420002-39
	277.26
	2.5%

	Govt UK/TUV O/S C/A no.3
	01-420002-03
	270.1
	3%

	Govt UK/TUV TECH COR no.4
	01-420002-04
	0
	3%

	Govt UK/TUV O/S C/A no.5
	01-420002-05
	0
	3%

	Govt Tuvalu DBI
	01-420002-08
	496.43
	3%

	Govt Tuvalu Trust FD
	01-420002-09
	147.13
	3%

	Ministry of Natural Resources - Savings
	01-211235-30
	2.51
	2.5%

	Ministry of Works – Savings
	01-200210-30
	0
	2.5%

	Natural Resources Env. - Savings
	01-611896-30
	0
	2.5%

	Ministry of Transport and Communications
	01-460944-30
	6.08
	2.5%

	Post Shop
	01-741519-30
	3,390.24
	2.5%

	Govt of Tuvalu M/E/R Savings
	01-420045-30
	41,216.85
	2.5%

	Govt Tourism A/C
	01-420053-30
	469.34
	2.5%

	Fishermen LNS refund
	01-370973-30
	163.36
	2.5%

	Fisheries Ext. Fund
	01-691574-30
	554.29
	2.5%

	Fish P R Fund
	01-370674-30
	531.09
	2.5%

	Fish Mech Workshop
	01-380733-30
	109.57
	2.5%

	Fisheries DRF
	01-370666-30
	33.13
	2.5%

	Total
	 
	44,708.6
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Appendix 9: Significant Areas of Increased Expenditure

	Account Area
	2007
	2006
	Percentage Increase

	Leave Travel
	$   343,053
	 $    135,980 
	152%

	Vessel Fuel
	$1,303,841
	 $  1,041,097 
	25%

	Office Expenses
	$   364,533
	 $    216,549 
	68%

	Medical Treatment
	$1,343,441
	 $  1,090,757 
	23%

	Contingency
	$   361,227
	 $       29,735
	1115%

	Lease and rentals
	$   759,158
	 $    747,581 
	2%

	House Maintenance
	$  407,291
	 $    139,913
	191%

	Outer Island Primary School Project
	$   508,771
	 $    349,018
	46%
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Appendix 10: Refundable Advances by Ministry
	 
	 
	 
	 2007 
	
	 2006 

	CODE
	Ministry
	Details
	 Balance 
	
	 Balance 

	 
	 
	 
	
	
	 

	GDEM0
	Ministry of Finance
	Tuvalu delegation to Mauritius
	70,537.00
	
	       3,466.99 

	GDTA0
	Foreign Affairs
	Eseta - L - (GG delegation to Malta)
	60,075.39
	
	     60,075.39 

	GKAM0
	Parliament - Kamuta L
	Reimbursement of patient expenses
	69.78
	
	           69.78 

	GMTC0
	Customs - Mainaga Taape
	MTCO Program - Mainaga Taape
	782.00
	
	         782.00 

	GMTS0
	Ministry of Health
	NZ Medical Treatment Scheme
	62,591.85
	
	     62,591.85 

	GNKA0
	Home Affairs
	Nui Kaupule (Maneapa)
	15.63
	
	           15.63 

	GNRAO
	Home Affairs
	Nui RAMP
	467.49
	
	         467.49 

	GRAP0
	Home Affairs
	Enele S - PR's travel expenses to Paris
	4,003.56
	
	       4,003.56 

	GRTL0
	Public Works
	Rotomould Tuvalu Ltd
	266,242.50
	
	0

	GSECNR
	Ministry of Natural Resources
	Delegation to Taiwan - Afelee Piita
	5,836.70
	
	       5,836.70 

	GTMT0
	Ministry of Education
	Solofa (Sec Education) TMTI Imprest
	319,361.55
	
	0

	GTNPS
	Ministry of Education
	Tolise New Primary School
	69,380.10
	
	0

	GTMC0
	Tuvalu Media Corporation
	Clearance of outstanding debts
	0
	
	            0.10 

	GTTFS0
	Ministry of Finance
	TTF Secretariat
	20,174.20
	
	     20,174.20 

	GUNA0
	Foreign Affairs
	Enele S - Petty Cash Advance NY Mission
	60.00
	
	           60.00 

	GUNA1
	Foreign Affairs
	Afelee Piita - UN Mission Ambassador
	0
	
	     42,000.00 

	 
	 
	Total
	879,579.75
	
	   199,543.58 
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Appendix 11: Ministerial (Supplementaries) Advances

	Issue
	Supplementary Appropriated
	Ministry
	Department
	 Particulars
	Amount

	Advances granted by the Minister of Finance during 2007
	
	 
	 
	 
	 

	
	1
	B Office of the Prime Minister
	1 Headquarters
	Renovate GG, PM & HC’s residences
	$     55,000

	
	1
	F Finance and Economic Planning
	1 Headquarters
	Contingency (Compensation for Cyclone)
	$   382,500

	
	1
	G Works and Energy
	3 Public Works
	Renovate Civil Servants’ Houses
	$   140,840

	
	1
	H Health
	3 Curative
	Patients Travel and Subsistence
	$   100,000

	
	1
	L Communications and Transport
	2 Marine
	Vessel Maintenance
	$     70,000

	
	
	Total
	
	
	$   748,340

	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	2
	B Office of the Prime Minister
	4 Personnel and Training
	USP Reimbursement
	$     15,000

	
	2
	D Parliament
	1 Headquarters
	Office Maintenance
	$     35,497

	
	2
	G Works and Energy
	1 Headquarters
	New Minister Expenses
	$     10,062

	
	2
	H Health
	1 Headquarters, 3 Curative
	Medical Treatment Scheme ($350), Patients Travel and Subsistence ($40), Salaries ($8) 
	$   398,000

	
	2
	L Communications and Transport
	2 Marine
	Vessel Maintenance
	$     77,804

	
	2
	J Home Affairs and Rural Development
	1 Headquarters
	Non State Actors (EU)
	$   110,000

	
	2
	M Education and Sports
	1 Headquarters
	New Minister Expenses
	$       9,396

	
	
	Total
	
	
	$   655,759

	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	N/A
	L Communications and Transport
	2 Marine
	Vessel Maintenance
	$     70,196

	
	N/A 
	L Communications and Transport
	3 Aviation
	Airfield and Navigational Aids Maintenance
	$     20,000

	
	
	Total
	
	
	$     90,196

	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	GRAND TOTAL
	
	
	$1,494,294
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Appendix 12: Audit Adjustments 

	Reference
	Account
	Comments
	Total Of Entries

	Balance Sheet
	
	
	

	1
	106400 - Tuvalu Trust Fund
	Adjustment to Real Value of Tuvalu's contributions to the TTF
	 $       8,667,419.00 

	2
	108000 - UN Mission
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $          116,089.24 

	3
	108300 - Fiji High Commission
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $            93,590.99 

	4
	109700 - Cash on Hand Nanumaga
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $              1,373.70 

	5
	109800 - Cash on Hand Nanumea
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $                     0.32 

	6
	109900 - Cash on Hand Niutao
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $                   77.58 

	7
	110000 - Cash on Hand Nui
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $                     0.24 

	8
	110100 - Cash on Hand Nukufetau
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $                 540.09 

	9
	110200 - Cash on Hand Nukulaelae
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $              6,280.87 

	10
	110400 - Cash on Hand Vaitupu
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $            85,091.34 

	11
	110600 - General Account
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $          830,167.16 

	12
	112000 - Investment in Education Office
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $              4,972.75 

	13
	112600 - Investment in CIF
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $       1,544,222.56 

	14
	112700 - Capital in Corporations
	Adjustment to write down investment to value of Net Assets
	 $       4,104,190.75

	15
	115700 - Government Call Account #2
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $              1,609.26 

	16
	116000 - Tuvalu Development Fund
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $          275,500.35 

	17
	116100 - Miscellaneous Passbook Account No. 34
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $              1,161.10 

	18
	300100 - Loan AFL
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $          562,013.62 

	19
	300200 - Government Offshore Loans
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the exchange rate differences
	 $          260,719.00 

	20
	301900 - Outer Island Suspense Account
	Adjustment to the bank account to reflect the true position
	 $          312,086.61 

	21
	Surplus
	
	

	22
	Retained Earnings
	Balancing Adjustment
	

	23
	106500 - Accounts Payable Control A/C
	To Take up creditors not recorded
	 $          177,793.00 

	24
	107200 - Other Debtors Control A/C
	Take up debtors not recorded
	 $          346,238.00

	25
	LOAN TMC (GUARANTEE)
	Adjust to correct Amount
	 $          126,919.15 

	26
	LOAN NAFICOT (GUARENTEE)
	Adjust to correct Amount
	 $       1,308,100.09 

	27
	301000 - Immigration Security Bond
	Take up into Balance sheet
	 $            12,400.00 

	28
	900000 – Accounts Receivable Clearing Account
	Clear this account that has been accounted twice
	 $            40,928.51

	29
	Pacific Forum Lines shareholding
	Take up shareholding into Balance sheet
	 $          468,655.00 

	30
	Prepaid interest on TMTI Loans
	Take up Prepayment for interest withheld
	 $          225,931.00 

	31
	Assets shown in Expenses
	Capitalisation of Assets purchased in Expenses
	 $       2,190,563.16 

	32
	Accrued Interest
	Take up accrued interest
	 $              2,400.00 

	33
	Accounts receivable
	Taxation payments in arears
	 $            75,728.00

	34
	Cash On hand
	Take out Treasury Cash on hand
	 $              2,664.23

	35
	Provision for Doubtful Debts
	Take up provision for old debts not collectable
	 $          140,288.00

	36
	Fisheries Licences
	Move ’08 portion into Income in Advance
	 $       2,551,474.74

	Income Stmt
	
	
	

	a
	Japan Fuel Grant
	Account correctly for the Japanese Fuel Grant
	 $       1,146,461.00 

	b
	Drawdown from CIF
	Adjust to amount drawndown from TTF
	 $       2,664,580.00 

	c
	Dividend Paid directly off Suspense Account
	Account correctly for Dividend
	 $          204,871.49 

	d
	Air fiji loan payment
	Account correctly for repayment of Loan
	 $          275,000.00 

	e
	Charges on TMTI Loans
	Account for Interest Charges on TMTI Loans
	 $            50,290.00 

	f
	Interest From Bank
	Take up Interest from Bank Deposits
	 $            70,716.00 

	g
	Interest from CIF
	Correctly Account for Interest on CIF Account
	 $          780,626.30 

	h
	Transport Subsidy
	Import Levy refunded on outer island transport
	 $          115,945.70

	i
	Science Equipment
	Debit Expense that was wrongly credited
	 $            97,160.00

	
	Total
	
	 $     29,802,551.48
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13.13 Appendix 13: Company Taxes and Customs Revenue 

Examples of company taxes and customs duty due

	Entity
	Details
	Total – 2007

$
	Total – 2006

$

	TV Variety

Mauatama Motors

Fatumoana Agency

Asivai

Bingo 75

Filamona

Halavai Restraunt

Halavai Store

IV Store

Sefatau Barber

Sefatau Store

Tamaese Restraunt

Matafele Bingo

Mesamasui

PN & Son

Tenga Store

Horizon Bar

Women Council- Suia Pesega

TCS 

TEC – under collection

SBH – under collection

Tinapa Kennedy

Barbara Mataitusi

Kapuafe Lifuka

Lilly Suiti

Foekatea Elisala (Tamanuku)

Matangare Soloseni
	Yr 1999 – 2004

Yr 2006

Yr 2006

Yr 2007

Yr 2007

Yr 2007

Yr 2007

Yr 2007

Yr 2007

Yr 2007

Yr 2007

Yr 2007

Yr 2007

Yr 2007

Yr 2007

Yr 2007

Customs tax -

Yr 2004

Yr 2006

Yr 2006

Yr 2006

Yr 2006

Yr 2006

Yr 2006

Yr 2006

Yr 2006

Yr 2007

Yr 2007
	26,035

NIL

NIL

5,754

526

2,172

919

1,632

797

349

1,776

1,606

273

5,384

906

2,946

22,966

17

221

664

611

NIL

39

12

33

52.94

37.40
	26,035

147

206

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

NIL

22,966

17

221

664

611

24

39

12

33

NIL

NIL

	
	
	75,728
	50,975


I noted that a number of companies have tax dues for the year 2007 however accounts have been submitted for assessment but such assessment has not yet taken place

Examples of assessment still due:

	Entity
	Assessment Year

	Solomai
TEC

TTC

VLH

TCCL
Mils Fresh Bakery

Api’s Bicycle

Petio Transport & Mechanical W/shop Ltd

Neiata Jacks

PN Sons Traders

Sulani Stationeries

JY Shop

Pasuakai

Coconut Wireless Internet Café

Tuatapu Enterprises Ltd

Nukuvalu Computer Company

Sulami
Filamona Lodge

Sagale Tutasi Bakery

Tuvalu General Hardware

Tokotu Printery Ltd

Canimo & Brother Repair Services

AMD Ltd
Sologa Store

Clear Gas
Island Supermarket

FOSA Electrical Services

Sammy’s Services Station
	2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007


13.14  Appendix 14: Examples of probable NOT complying companies identified by the tax office
	Business Name
	IRD No
	WageTax
	Bus Tax
	Customs No
	Bus Reg No

	Enny's Shops
	
	N
	F
	"0106"
	S0704328

	Fetugali
	
	N
	F
	
	S0703325

	Malaeotoa Enterprises
	
	N
	F
	
	S0707332

	Malie
	
	N
	F
	
	S0707331

	Paueli & Sons Store
	
	N
	F
	"0093"
	P0704248

	Sologia Canteen
	
	N
	F
	
	S0703326

	Temsy Flats
	
	N
	F
	
	S0702324

	Van Camp Fuel
	
	N
	F
	
	S0703327

	Blue Oceans Ltd
	
	E
	N
	"0213"
	L0605286

	Fetuao Canteen
	
	E
	N
	"0203"
	

	Gali Secondhand Clothing
	
	E
	N
	"0205"
	

	Haapai Taxi Service
	
	E
	N
	
	S0501276

	Hide Away Resort
	
	E
	N
	"0045"
	

	JJ House Rental Business
	
	E
	N
	
	S0604306

	JJ Trading Company Pty Ltd (Iefata Paeniu)
	
	E
	N
	"0210"
	L0606287

	Lalonia Samuelu (Rent)
	
	E
	N
	
	

	Lise Talia (Minorz)
	
	E
	N
	"0199"
	

	National Fishing Corporation of Tuvalu (NAFICOT)
	
	E
	N
	"0003"
	

	Pupa Refrigeration & A/Con Services Pty Co Ltd
	
	E
	N
	"0176"
	L0211239

	Safaga House Rent
	
	E
	N
	
	S0411272

	Salota Boreham
	
	E
	N
	"0162"
	

	Sanyo Motorcycle Services
	
	E
	N
	"0218"
	S0011227?

	Simeona Miliama
	
	E
	N
	"0204"
	

	Sulami Telogo
	
	E
	N
	"0196"
	

	Taisala Transport
	
	E
	N
	
	S0504273

	Tuvalu Air Travel Trading & Shipping Services Cons
	
	E
	N
	"0215"
	S0011232

	Ailesi & son
	
	N
	N
	"0091"
	95S27064?

	Avalau Village (General Merchandise Pty Co) Ltd
	
	N
	N
	"0191"
	L0408269

	Colonial Fiji Life Ltd/First State Investment
	 
	N
	N
	"0164"
	20E21131

	Cool Audio & Visual Productions
	
	N
	N
	
	S0501275

	Ekalesia Kelisiano Tuvalu (EKT) Bookshop
	"008"
	N
	N
	"0015"?
	

	F A Homasi & Sons
	
	N
	N
	"0064"
	93P08018

	Fiamalu Construction
	
	N
	N
	"0152"
	

	Hi-Tech Security Services
	
	N
	N
	
	P0511244

	Latasi Opeta
	
	N
	N
	"0190"
	

	Lucky Set Proprietary Co Ltd
	
	N
	N
	"0219"
	L0312251

	Matagi Gali Bar
	
	N
	N
	"0013"
	L0011218

	Mataio Liai
	
	N
	N
	"0138"
	

	Pese Photographic
	
	N
	N
	"0157"
	P0011183

	PJH (Manapa)
	
	N
	N
	"0207"
	

	Tapele Copier
	
	N
	N
	"0214"
	S0503279

	Tapumanaia Boatbuilding
	
	N
	N
	"0073"
	93S12027

	Tekavatoetoe Pty Ltd (Sunset Bar)
	
	N
	N
	
	L0408269

	Tuvalu Media Corporation (TMC)
	
	N
	N
	"0151"
	

	Tuvalu PC Technologies Ltd
	
	N
	N
	"0216"
	L0011164

	Tuvalu Philatelic Bureau
	
	N
	N
	"0023"
	

	Valuatai Lodge
	
	N
	N
	
	S0509293

	Western Union
	
	N
	N
	
	

	(Sea Cucumber business)
	
	N
	N
	
	

	Alpha Pacific Navigation Ltd
	"001"
	Y
	N
	"0069"
	92E01004

	Development Bank of Tuvalu (DBT)
	"005"
	Y
	N
	"0070"
	

	Funafuti Fusi
	"010"
	Y
	N
	
	

	Mama Petrol
	"013"
	Y
	N
	"0101"
	95S30068

	Tuvalu Electricity Corporation (TEC)
	"022"
	Y
	N
	"0041"
	

	Tuvalu Marine Services Agency (TMS)
	"023"
	Y
	N
	"0144"?
	

	Tuvalu National Provident Fund (TNPF)
	"020"
	Y
	N
	"0018"
	

	Tuvalu Telecom Corporation (TTC)
	"021"
	Y
	N
	"0076"
	

	TV Varieties
	"032"
	Y
	N
	"0198"
	

	Vaiaku Lagi Hotel
	"030"
	Y
	N
	"0021"
	

	DHL
	
	?
	?
	
	

	Divisoria shop
	
	?
	?
	
	

	Government Store
	
	?
	?
	"0022"
	

	Happai Internet (part of Nukuvalu?)
	
	?
	?
	
	

	Jimmy's Restaurant (part of JY shop?)
	
	?
	?
	
	

	Meteorological Station
	
	?
	?
	"0038"
	

	Paueli Sione Video Library
	
	?
	?
	"0029"
	

	PWD
	
	?
	?
	"0039"
	

	Sulani Video Library (part of above?)
	
	?
	?
	
	

	Su's Place
	
	?
	?
	"0054"
	

	Temotu Carpentry
	
	?
	?
	"0047"
	99P02002

	Tuatapu
	
	?
	?
	"0158"
	

	Tuvalu Gas
	
	?
	?
	"0057"
	S0011211
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